
HEALTH SELECT COMMISSION 
 
Venue: Town Hall,  

Moorgate Street, 
Rotherham S60  2TH 

Date: Thursday, 25th October, 2012 

  Time: 9.30 a.m. 
 
 

A G E N D A 
 

 
1. To determine whether the following items should be considered under the 

categories suggested in accordance with Part 1 of Schedule 12A (as amended 
March 2006)  to the Local Government Act 1972  

  

 
2. To determine any item the Chairman is of the opinion should be considered 

later in the agenda as a matter of urgency  
  

 
3. Apologies for Absence  
  

 
4. Declarations of Interest  
  

 
5. Questions from members of the public and the press  
  

 
6. Communications  
  

 
7. Minutes of previous meeting (Pages 1 - 7) 
  

 
8. Health and Wellbeing Board (Pages 8 - 15) 

 
- minutes of meeting held on 5th September, 2012 

 
9. Government Consultation - Process Local Authorities  will use to consult on any 

Feasible Water Fluoridation Schemes (Pages 16 - 87) 
  

 
10. Work Programme Update (Pages 88 - 90) 
  

 
11. Date and Time of Future Meeting:-  

 
- Thursday, 6th December, 2012 at 9.30 a.m. 

 

 



HEALTH SELECT COMMISSION - 13/09/12  
 

24A 

HEALTH SELECT COMMISSION 
13th September, 2012 

 
 
Present:- Councillor Steele (in the Chair); Councillors Beaumont, Dalton, Goulty, Hoddinott, 
Roche, Wootton and Ms. V. Farnsworth (Speak Up), Mr. R. Parkin (Speak Up) and Mr. P. 
Scholey (Parish Council representative).   
 
Councillors Doyle and Wyatt were in attendance at the invitation of the Chairman.   
 

Apologies for absence had been received from Councillors Barron, Kaye, Middleton and 
Wellsand co-opted member Mr. R. Wells.   
 
19. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 
 There were no declarations of interest made at the meeting. 

 
20. QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC AND THE PRESS  

 
 There were no members of the public or the press present at the meeting. 

 
21. COMMUNICATIONS  

 
 Care Quality Commissioning Registration: -  

 
The Cabinet Member for Health and Wellbeing informed the Health Select 
Commission that the Health and Wellbeing Board and the Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy had been well received as part of this process.  In 
particular, the clear lines of ownership that existed, the three years of targets 
and the partnerships and relationships had been endorsed.   
 
Maltby Ambulance Station: -  
 
The Cabinet Member for Health and Wellbeing reported that consultation was 
underway with stakeholders on the possible closure of Maltby Ambulance 
Station. 
   
The Health Select Commission and the Health and Wellbeing Board agreed to 
seek further information from the Yorkshire Ambulance Service.   
 
Changes to prescriptions: -  
   
The Vice-Chair of the Health Select Commission was aware that there were 
potential guidelines to stop doctors issuing prescriptions for a period of two 
months, making a maximum prescription length of one month.  This move could 
potentially double the costs of patents and could lead to patients deciding to 
take less medication.   
 
It was agreed to raise this issue at the Health and Wellbeing Board’s meeting 
with the Secretary of the Rotherham Pharmacology Committee in October.   

 

 

 

Agenda Item 7Page 1



25A  HEALTH SELECT COMMISSION - 13/09/12 

 

Rotherham Hospice: -   
 
It was reported that a meeting would take place with the Chief Executive of the 
Rotherham Hospice to discuss how end of life care and experience for patients 
could be improved as far as possible.   
 

22. MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING  
 

 Consideration was given to the minutes of the previous meeting of the Health 
Select Commission held on 12th July, 2012. 
 
Resolved:- That the minutes of the previous meeting be agreed as a correct 
record for signature by the Chairman.  
 

23. HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD  
 

 Consideration was given to the minutes of the meeting of the Health and 
Wellbeing Board held on 11th July, 2012. 
 
Resolved:- That the minutes of the Health and Wellbeing Board meeting be 
noted. 
 

24. CARE FOR OUR FUTURE WHITE PAPER AND DRAFT CARE AND SUPPORT 
BILL  
 

 Consideration was given to a report presented by Shona McFarlane, Director 
of Health and Wellbeing, stating that the Government had published its vision 
for a reformed care and support system in a White Paper and a draft Bill.  An 
online consultation process was now taking place, with the deadline for 
responses being Friday, 19th October, 2012. 
 
The report summarised the key features of both the White Paper and the draft 
Bill and outlined the themes and questions in relation to the Bill, on which the 
Government was seeking responses. It was suggested that a sub-group of 
Members, chosen jointly from the Health and the Improving Lives Select 
Commissions, be established to prepare a detailed response to the 
Government’s consultation. 
 
Resolved: - (1) That the report be received and its contents noted. 
 
(2) That a sub-group of Members, chosen jointly from the Health Select 
Commission and the Improving Lives Select Commission, be established to 
consider the Government’s consultation documents and submit a formal 
response by 19th October 2012. 
 
(3)  That the Health Select Commission representatives on the sub-group be 
Councillors Steele and Hoddinott and co-opted member Mr. Robert Parkin.   
 
(4) That the Improving Lives Select Commission be asked to nominate 
Members to join this sub-group.  
 
 
 
 

Page 2



HEALTH SELECT COMMISSION - 13/09/12  
 

26A 

25. HEALTHWATCH  
 

 Councillor Ken Wyatt, Cabinet Member for Health and Wellbeing, provided an 
update in relation to HealthWatch: -  
 

• The Chair of HealthWatch England had been appointed;   

• There was an agreed budget until March, 2013, and possibly a regional 
network to provide support; 

• Rotherham MBC and NHS Rotherham had run an event at Rockingham 
Professional Development Centre;  

o 18 organisations had attended; 
o The purpose of the event was to share information and service priorities.  
 
The main issues that the partners agreed were: -  
 

• Engagement with children, young people and families’ issues was necessary;  

• HealthWatch must take care to not just listen to the loudest voices;  

• Staff transferring into the organisation and TUPE issues.   
 
HealthWatch England had received £3million in funding for the period October, 
2012, to March, 2013, to fund their national set-up.  The organisation would 
have to fulfil the following roles: -  
 

• Include Children’s Agenda; 
• Support Local HealthWatch; 

• Complaints and Advocacy; 

• Engagement work with carers and patients; 

• Proactive role in alerting local authorities, hospitals and Clinical 
Commissioning Groups to issues.    

 
HealthWatch would operate along a social enterprise model.  It was 
acknowledged that the organisation would have a large number of work 
streams to maintain and that there would be many draws on their funding.  It 
was imperative, therefore, that HealthWatch did not duplicate other work such 
as that carried out by Quality Care Commission or Ofsted.   
 
A pilot of a Local HealthWatch organisation had taken place in Essex County 
and had been successful; there were 24 members of the public involved in this 
pilot.   
 
It was noted that as a service commissioned by the Rotherham Local Authority, 
the contract would be monitored by the Commissioning Team within the 
Resources Directorate.  The contract would be fully operational by April, 2013.   
 
Resolved: -  That the information shared be noted and the Cabinet Member be 
thanked for his attendance.    
 

26. DAY SERVICE PROPOSAL LEARNING DISABILITY SERVICES  
 

 Consideration was given to a report presented by Shona McFarlane, Director 
of Health and Wellbeing, Neighbourhood and Adult Services, concerning the 
range of day care services for adults and older people with a learning disability. 

Page 3



27A  HEALTH SELECT COMMISSION - 13/09/12 

 

The Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care report ‘Day Services Review’ dated 
13th February, 2012, outlined savings targets for the Council’s Day Care 
Services, which included a savings target of £150,000 for Learning Disability 
Day Care Services.  The report identified options to achieve this savings target 
and outlined the need for further work in respect of the longer term 
personalisation of Learning Disability Day Care Services, to ensure that they 
aligned to local and national strategic direction and provided value for money. 
 
The report included proposals to: -  
 

• Change the provision of meals in the Day Care Centres; 

• Staffing restructures. 
  
Reference was also made to Minute No. 18 of the meeting of the Cabinet 
Member and Advisers for Adult Social Care held on 23rd July, 2012, concerning 
the review of Learning Disability Day Care Services and the savings target. 
 
Discussion ensued, and the following issues were raised: -  
 

• Assurances were requested from the Director of Health and Wellbeing that 
the proposed staffing restructures would continue to mean that Service 
users had their care plans met and that they were safe whilst accessing 
Day Care Centres; 

• Communications with staff groups and unions;  

• Communications with service users; 

• Skill development opportunities for service users were within the proposals; 

• Stakeholder responses to the consultation were being responded to by 
Health and Wellbeing Service Managers and the Cabinet Member for Adult 
Social Care; 

• The proposals did not have any implications for the Partner organisations 
that worked within the Day Care Centres but they had been made aware of 
them.   

 
The Director of Health and Wellbeing confirmed that the proposals aimed to 
have least impact on those who accessed front-line services.   
 
Resolved:- (1) That the report be received and the background and history to 
this issue be noted. 
 
(2) That the proposals to achieve the financial savings for the Learning 
Disability Day Care Services during the current 2012/13 financial year, as 
detailed in the report now submitted, be approved insofar as the Health Select 
Commission was concerned. 
 
(3) That the proposed report to Cabinet Member, Adult Social Care, outlining 
the longer term strategy for the Learning Disability Day Care Services, be 
submitted to a future meeting of the Health Select Commission. 
 

27. DAY SERVICE PROPOSAL - TRANSPORT SERVICES  
 

 Consideration was given to a report presented by Shona McFarlane, Director 
of Health and Wellbeing, Neighbourhood and Adult Services, concerning the In-
house Transport Service provided by Neighbourhood and Adult Services. The 

Page 4



HEALTH SELECT COMMISSION - 13/09/12  
 

28A 

Service primarily provided transport for customers to access Adult Social Care 
Services, such as In-house Day Services and Respite Units, but was also utilised 
by external organisations and other Council Directorates to transport their 
customers; thereby generating income. 
 
The Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care report ‘Day Services Review,’ dated 
13th February, 2012, outlined savings targets for RMBC Day Care Services. 
The report identified options to achieve these savings specifically for Transport 
Services and requested approval to commence formal consultation with 
customers on the new revised transport eligibility criteria.     
 
Reference was also made to Minute No. 19 of the meeting of the Cabinet 
Member and Advisers for Adult Social Care held on 23rd July, 2012, concerning 
the review of Transport Services and the savings target. 
 
The Director of Health and Wellbeing confirmed that risk assessments would 
continue to be used to determine a Service user’s travel requirements.   
 
Discussion ensued and the following responses were made: -  
 

• Potential need for Service users to challenge decisions made, either 
through and appeal or complaints procedure;  

• Importance of providing ‘bus buddies’ to those Service users who 
needed them;  

• The outcome of the Equality Impact Assessment on the proposals; 

• Potential to drain an individual’s mobility component of the Disability 
Living Allowance through attendance at a Day Centre, leaving less for 
other activities/outings; 

• Would the impact of the proposals on those on the higher, middle or 
low level of Disability Living Allowance be different?;    

• The range of professional support that was provided to service users 
when completing the Service User Eligibility Criteria for Transport 
Services.   

 
Resolved:- (1) That the report be received and the background and history to 
this issue be noted. 
 
(2) That the revised Transport Eligibility Criteria, as now submitted, be approved 
insofar as this Select Commission was concerned. 
 
(3)  That the proposed report to Cabinet Member Adult Social Care be 
submitted the Health Select Commission following the closure of the 
consultation period outlining the responses received.   
 

28. CONTINUING HEALTHCARE REVIEW  
 

 Further to Minute No. 28 of the meeting of the Health Select Commission held 
on 27th October, 2011, consideration was given to a report presented by 
Deborah Fellowes, Scrutiny Manager, containing the findings and 
recommendations of the Scrutiny Review of Continuing Healthcare in 
Rotherham. The draft Review report was submitted as an appendix to the main 
report. 
 

Page 5



29A  HEALTH SELECT COMMISSION - 13/09/12 

 

Members had learned that expenditure on Continuing Healthcare in 
Rotherham was lower than that of surrounding and statistical neighbours and 
there were anecdotal concerns in relation to the customer experience of the 
CHC process and time taken to receive decisions.  Scrutiny Members were 
concerned about this level of spending locally and the impact this was likely to 
have on customers as well as Local Authority budgets. The key findings of the 
review were:- 
 
(i) There had been some positive engagement between the two organisations 

(local authority and NHS) to address some of the strategic issues faced 
locally in relation to budgets and procedures; 

 
(ii) In Rotherham, the lower spend on Continuing Healthcare meant that Adult 

Social Care spending was higher than it would be if the Continuing 
Healthcare spending was either at average levels, or in line with the levels 
of health inequalities in the Borough; 

 
(iii) Interviews with professionals raised a number of issues and concerns 

around the process of assessments and decision making, including the 
Continuing Healthcare panel; 

 
(iv) It was clear that although the processes were being adhered to, there were 

huge inconsistencies in the way they were implemented; 
 
(v) Information gathered from customers reflected the concerns raised in 

relation to the lack of clarity and inconsistencies in the process and delays 
being experience. 

 
The Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care thanked the Review group for the 
work that had taken place as part of the Review, and the recommendations 
that had been made.  He was confident that the recommendations addressed 
issues of concern reported by the Service users.  As such, this was a positive 
development.   
 
The Scrutiny Manager reported that, as the Review recommendations 
contained implications for Health Services, constitutionally the report was 
required to be submitted to the Health and Wellbeing Board for their 
consideration.  
 
Resolved: - (1) That the report be received and its contents noted. 
 
(2) That the findings and recommendations of the report of the scrutiny review 
of Continuing Healthcare in Rotherham be endorsed. 
 
(3) That the be submitted to both the Overview and Scrutiny Management 
Board, the Health and Wellbeing Board and to the Cabinet for further 
consideration. 
 
(4) That the response of the Cabinet to this Scrutiny Review’s 
recommendations be reported to a future meeting of the Health Select 
Commission. 
 
 
 

Page 6



HEALTH SELECT COMMISSION - 13/09/12  
 

30A 

29. DATE AND TIME OF FUTURE MEETING:-  
 

 Resolved:-  That the next meeting of the Health Select Commission be held on 
25th October, 2012, commencing at 9.30 a.m. in the Rotherham Town Hall. 
 

 

Page 7



HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD - 05/09/12 12S 
 
 

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 
5th September, 2012 

 
Present:- 
 
Members:- 
Councillor Wyatt  In the Chair 
Karl Battersby  Strategic Director, Environment and Development  
    Services, RMBC 
Tracey Clarke   RDaSH 
Tom Cray   Strategic Director, Neighbourhoods and Adult Services,  
    RMBC 
Councillor Doyle  Cabinet Member, Adult Social Care 
Shaliq Hussain  Voluntary Action Rotherham 
Brian James   Rotherham Foundation Trust 
Martin Kimber  Chief Executive, RMBC 
Councillor Lakin  Cabinet Member, Children, Young People and Families 
    Services 
Shona McFarlane  Director of Health and Wellbeing  
Jason Paige   CCG 
David Polkinghorn  CCG 
John Radford   Director of Public Health 
Joyce Thacker Strategic Director, Children, Young People and 

Families, RMBC 
Sarah Whittle   CCG/NHS Rotherham 
 
Officers:- 
Clare Burton   Commissioning, Policy and Performance, RMBC 
Matt Gladstone  Director, Commissioning, Policy and Performance 
Kate Green   Policy Officer, RMBC 
Chrissy Wright  Commissioning, Policy and Performance, RMBC 
 
Together with:- 
Anne Charlesworth  NHS Rotherham 
David Plews   National Commissioning Board 
Kathy Wakefield  NHS Rotherham 
John Wilderspin  Department of Health 
 
 
Apologies for absence were received from Chris Boswell, Chris Edwards, Tracy Holmes, 
Fiona Topliss, David Tooth, Janet Wheatley, 
 
S21. WELCOME AND INTRODUCTIONS  

 
 The Chairman welcomed John Wilderspin, National Director, Health and 

Wellbeing Board Implementation, Department of Health, to the meeting and 
introductions were made. 
 

S22. MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING  
 

 Agreed:-  That the minutes be approved as a true record.   
 
 

Agenda Item 8Page 8



13S HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD - 05/09/12 

 

S23. COMMUNICATIONS  
 

 (a)  Communications Plan 
It was noted that a meeting was to be held between the Borough Council, NHS 
Rotherham and hopefully Rotherham Foundation Trust’s Communication leads 
to discuss the development of a 12 month Health and Wellbeing Community 
Plan linking in possibly with the campaign that pharmacies were contracted to 
do. 
 
(b)  South Yorkshire Police and Crime Commissioner 
It was noted that the Officer who would be supporting the Commissioner once 
appointed was to attend the October Board meeting to discuss how they would 
relate to the Health and Wellbeing agenda.  The February Board meeting had 
already been logged in the diary for attendance by the Commissioner. 
 
The paper circulated was a document that would be available on the Police and 
Crime Commissioner’s website for any organisation to raise issues with the 
Commissioner. 
 
(c)  “Implementing Health and Wellbeing Boards” Capita Conference to be held 
in Central London on 17th October, 2010 
Anyone interested in attending the above conference should notify the 
Chairman. 
 

S24. ALCOHOL STRATEGY - LOCAL IMPLEMENTATION  
 

 Anne Charlesworth, Drug Strategy Manager, NHS Rotherham, presented a 
report on the proposed local implementation of the Alcohol Strategy launched 
by the Government in April. 
 
Following a partnership meeting in July, an action plan had been compiled to 
deliver all aspects of the Strategy.  The key aims were:- 
 

− Develop ‘Community Alcohol Partnerships’ (CAPs) including Responsible 
Retailer Scheme 

− Make those who caused the harm face the consequences both individuals 
and premises 

− Make ‘every contact count’ in delivering the culture change required. 
 
Following the first meeting, there had been a disappointing response with 
regard to individuals committing themselves to the timelines. 
 
It had not been appreciated that the boundaries of the CAPs were slightly 
different to those identified by the Council as areas of deprivation so there 
would be a slight amendment.  Dinnington had been identified as having 
significant issues with alcohol.  However, with the resources available, there 
would not be sufficient to do all areas simultaneously.   
 
Discussion ensued with the following issues raised:- 
 

− Whilst under taking the 2 pilot areas give consideration to the 11 deprived 
areas and Community First due to the overlap.  There were approximately 
15 areas warranting special attention and also featuring alcohol issues 

Page 9



HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD - 05/09/12 14S 
 
 

− If tackling areas of deprivation you were dealing with people that were very 
difficult to change 

− Visibility – it was easy to see street drinking but the problem of home 
drinking was of much more significance and was not restricted to deprived 
parts of the Borough 

− Modest approach with the resources available.  If the Board prioritised 
alcohol it would have to identify resources across the agencies 

− Many associated issues with alcohol misuse – domestic abuse, neglect, 
anti-social behaviour etc. 

− Utilise Elected Members who had local knowledge and Neighbourhood 
Champions 

 
Agreed:-  (1)  That Community Alcohol Partnerships commence in Dinnington 
and East Herringthorpe and rolled out to all 11 Disadvantaged Areas 
alternative substantial alcohol initiatives were already underway. 
 
(2)  That the remaining recommendations set out in the report be referred to 
the Chief Executive Officers Group for support. 
 
(3)  That a further report be submitted in 3 months. 
 

S25. INFECTION PREVENTION AND HEALTH PROTECTION ANNUAL REPORT 
2011/12  
 

 Kathy Wakefield, Health Protection Manager, presented the Infection 
Prevention and Health Protection 2011/12 Annual Report. 
 
Whilst there was no legal requirement for commissioning organisations to 
have a nominated Director of Infection Prevention and Control (DIPC), it was 
seen as good practice.  This function was fulfilled by the Director of Public 
Health supported by the Health Protection Manager.  All providers 
commissioned by NHS Rotherham had nominated DIPCs or Infection 
prevention leads and were members of the Strategic Infection Prevention and 
Control Committee. 
 
The Committee had met throughout the reportable period providing assurance 
regarding compliance with all relevant Guidance and Quality Management 
Group, respective contract quality review meetings or relevant member of the 
CCG.  Its purpose was not performance management.  An annual programme 
based on the NHS Operating Framework and local priorities was developed, 
agreed and monitored by the Committee escalating concerns as appropriate. 
 
Kathy drew attention to:- 
 

− Health Care Associated Infections  
Both the provider (RFT) and NHSR as commissioning organisation had to 
have an Annual Plan to achieve and sustain a reduction in the number of 
MRSA bacteraemia and C.difficile infections 
 

− Outbreaks 
Flu like/confirmed Influenza - 4 outbreaks of – 3 in care homes and 1 at a 
primary school 

Page 10



15S HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD - 05/09/12 

 

E.coli 0157 – family outbreak excluding food handlers.  No implications for 
the wider community 
Water Quality Incident – a family with raised blood lead levels.  Work in 
conjunction with Health Protection Agency and YWA.  No identified ill health 
affects.  Changes made to the practice of reporting from YWA to 
Environmental Health and the Local Authority 

 

− Influenza 
Slightly higher numbers of GP consultations from early January to mid-
March compared to other areas across the region. 
Overall hospital admissions had remained low for the season 
There had been 1 death (Asthmatic patient).  The patient had been invited 
by the GP on 2 occasions for vaccination but had not attended 
 

− Influenza Immunisation Vaccination Programme 
Over 65s – Target of 75% - achieved 76% 
At Risk Groups including Pregnant Women – Target 60% - achieved 53.6% 
 

− Food Borne Illness 
Largely unchanged 
 

− Vaccination and Immunisation 
Continued improvement across all vaccination programmes specifically in 
relation to the Childhood Programme (0-5 years) and School Booster 

 

− Areas of concern 
MMR – continuing work to encourage uptake particularly 5-24 year olds 
HPV Vaccine – delivered as part of School-based Programme.  Failed to 
achieve 90% (84.4%).  Work taking place on a delivery plan with providers 
Pneumococcal Immunisation for the under 65s – review and agreed to 
continue with programme 
Respiratory Syncytial Virus affecting Younger Children – targeted 
vaccination programme with 26 children vaccinated (increase of 11) 
Infection Prevention and Control in Care Homes – close work commenced 
with Contract Monitoring Officers to improve standards across all the care 
home   

 
Brian James, Rotherham Foundation Trust, reported that infection control 
remained a high priority for the Trust and was performing well nationally with 
the support of colleagues in managing infection control but there was no room 
for complacency. 
 
Discussion ensued on the report particularly on the death of the patient who 
had failed to attend for influenza vaccination and what efforts the GP 
practice/how far a GP could go to ensure a patient attended an appointment. 
 
Agreed:-  That the Infection Prevention and Health Protection Annual report for 
2011/12 be noted. 
 

S26. HEALTH AND WELLBEING STRATEGY  
 

 Kate Green, Policy Officer, reported that the consultation period had now 
closed. 

Page 11



HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD - 05/09/12 16S 
 
 

 
There had been a broad range of feedback – e-mail, engagement with 
colleagues across partner organisations and the very well attended 
consultation event hosted by Voluntary Action Rotherham and LINks. 
 
Comments had been positive and the outcomes/approach welcomed and if 
achieved would have a huge impact on the people of Rotherham.  The language 
used was felt to need some rewording.  
 
There had been concerns, particularly from the VAR event, that the voluntary 
and community sector had not been mentioned as specific partners within the 
Strategy document.  This had been taken on board, however, it was felt that the 
Strategy referred to the specific statutory agencies with responsibility for 
delivering the Strategy; the voluntary and community sector was not 
necessarily responsible for delivery but were key partners in making sure that it 
was delivered and supported its implementation.  This would be added to the 
document.   
 
The Strategy would be revised in light of all the comments and circulated to 
Board members. 
 
A draft document showing the work streams was distributed.  There were 6 
lead officers together with representatives from the CCG and Commissioning, 
Policy and Performance.  The strategic group had held their initial meeting and 
would continue to meet to ensure implementation of the Strategy.   
 
Agreed:-  That a further report and final strategy document be submitted to the 
next meeting. 
 

S27. CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUP ANNUAL COMMISSIONING PLAN  
 

 Sarah Whittle, NHS Rotherham, presented the proposed development and 
timetable of the 2013/14 Clinical Commissioning Group Annual 
Commissioning Plan. 
 
It was the intention to produce a CCG Annual Commissioning Plan (ACP) by 
mid-March, 2013 and an Annual Report by the end of June, 2013. 
 
It was felt that other annual Plans of the Local Authority and Foundation Trust 
should also be submitted to the Board to ensure they all had the “golden 
thread” and priorities.  Hopefully it would also eliminate any duplication. 
 
Agreed:-  That the proposed development of a CCG Annual Commissioning Plan 
be noted. 
 

S28. NHS COMMISSIONING BOARD UPDATE  
 

 David Plews, National Commissioning Board, gave the following update:- 
 

− Andy Buck had been appointed as the leader of the Local Area Team.  
Other appointments to follow 

− Organisational structure to be finalised 

− Transferring of functions in progress 

Page 12



17S HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD - 05/09/12 

 

− Discussions on roles and responsibilities 

− Local Area Team working with National Commissioning Board and 
Department of Health on indicative Indicator Sets 

− The Local Area Team was not a designated body as yet 

− The National Commissioning Board would be the commissioning board – 
there would be a single process across the country to reduce variation in 
contract 

− Local Area Team not just about Primary Care but would have a substantial 
function in commissioning Specialist Services and the Prison Service 

 
Agreed:-  That the update be noted. 
 

S29. ROTHERHAM HEALTHWATCH UPDATE  
 

 Clare Burton, Commissioning, Policy and Performance, presented a progress 
report in relation to commissioning HealthWatch Rotherham together with an 
update on Government guidance, funding and secondary Regulations as 
follows:- 
 
Secondary Regulations 

− These were still being developed by the Department of Health however 
Children and Young People were now included in the HealthWatch 
requirements. The Department of Health’s Summary Report key issues 
were set out as:- 

 
o The organisation did not need to be a social enterprise but must have 

the principles of 1 with at least 50% of profit/surplus reinvested to 
further the social objective 

o The constitution of the organisation must state that the main objective 
was to benefit the community 

o The secondary regulations would include further criteria about having 
lay people and volunteers in the local HealthWatch 

o In relation to the contract between the local authority and 
HealthWatch, the details of the 2008 Regulations would be carried 
forward with the intention of ensuring that the local HealthWatch 
operated in an open and transparent way 

o Requirement still for providers to respond to reports, 
recommendations and information requests including children’s social 
care 

o Referrals to scrutiny committee would be carried forward into 
HealthWatch 

o 2008 Entry Regulations which set out the duty of Service-providers to 
allow entry to residential care provision would be carried forward 
including in relation to “excluded activities” (children’s social care) 

o Directions in relation to what should be addressed in the local 
HealthWatch annual report 

 

− The Regulations would be laid in October (contracts element) and 
November (enter and view elements) and come into force on 1st April, 
2013. 

 
 
 

Page 13



HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD - 05/09/12 18S 
 
 

Progress 

− The local HealthWatch would be a member of the Health and Wellbeing 
Board and integral to the preparation of the Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment and the Health and Wellbeing Strategy together with any 
priority setting on which local commissioning decisions would be based.  It 
was proposed that an Elected Member also be a member of the 
HealthWatch Board of Trustees 

 

− HealthWatch Project Group – The Commissioning Project Group included 
representatives from the Local Authority and Rotherham Clinical 
Commissioning Group  
o A vision had been developed and included in the consultation.  

Information on HealthWatch had been added to the website and 2 
surveys issued to members of the public, Health and Social Care 
Service users, voluntary and community sector network and 
community interest groups 

o TUPE Arrangements – Discussions had taken place with the CCG with 
regard to 2 members of staff; other roles that were subject to TUPE 
would be considered 

o Service mapping – completed  
o Commissioning and Procurement Plan – the Pre-Qualification 

Questionnaire would be issued on 3rd September, 2012 
o NHS Complaints Advocacy – HealthWatch would be requested to 

provide at all levels of complaint process to ensure value for money 
o Funding – the current LINKs funding would become available for 

HealthWatch until 2014/15.  Additional funding would be made 
available to local authorities from 2013/14 to support both the 
information/signposting functions but also for commissioning NHS 
complaints advocacy.  The Department of Health had issued further 
guidance on the level of funding which was reduced from the original 
indication.  The revised funding level would be included in the 
specification and tendering documentation 

 
Discussion ensued on the report.  It was felt that HealthWatch would have a 
big workload without the matching resources so it was imperative that work 
was not duplicated. 
 
Resolved:-  (1)  That the progress achieve in relation to commissioning 
HealthWatch Rotherham be noted. 
 
(2)  That the intentions of the Department of Health in relation to the 
secondary Regulations be noted. 
 
(3)  That the proposal for an Elected Member to be a trustee on the 
Rotherham HealthWatch Board of Trustees be given further consideration. 
 
(4)  That the revised level of funding available be noted. 
 
(5)  That further reports be submitted on the outcome of the tendering 
process including the outcome of the evaluation process and the 
recommended provider. 
 
 

Page 14



19S HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD - 05/09/12 

 

S30. HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD SELF-ASSESSMENT  
 

 In accordance with Minute No. 15, Kate Green, Policy Officer, submitted the 
responses that had been received to the questionnaires completed by all Board 
members relating to the Board’s operation, Strategy and delivery. 
 
The Local Government Association had worked with the NHS Leadership 
Academy, other national organisations and representatives of Health and 
Wellbeing Boards to co-produce a new development tool for Boards.  It could 
be used to measure levels of preparedness through a ‘maturity matrix’ which 
allowed Boards to track their progress over time. 
 
John Wilderspin praised the Board for having the courage to self-assess as 
well as doing so before a self-assessment tool had been produced.  He 
particularly drew attention to:- 
 

− Good quality reports 

− Clarity of the Terms of Reference 

− Too ambitious? 

− Do not underestimate the challenge of getting different representatives 
from different organisations and having similar priorities 

− Consider concentrating on achieving a couple of priorities in the first year 

− Ask difficult questions 
 
Agreed:-  That a special meeting be convened to discuss the self-assessment 
results and the way forward. 
 

S31. DATE OF NEXT MEETING  
 

 Agreed:-  That  a further meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board be held on 
Wednesday, 31st October, 2012, commencing at 1.00 p.m. in the Rotherham 
Town Hall. 
 
 

 

Page 15



 

 
 

1. Meeting: Health Select Commission    

2. Date: 25th October 2012 

3. Title: 
Government Consultation - Process Local Authorities  
will use to consult on any Feasible Water Fluoridation 
Schemes 

4. Directorate: Resources 

 

5. Summary 

Attached is a copy of the Government consultation paper on the process Local 
Authorities will be asked to use to consult on water fluoridation schemes.  It should 
be noted that this is not asking Local Authorities to comment on water fluoridation 
or express their views on it.  It is looking for views on the consultation process to 
be used. 
 
The paper will be presented by Dr. John Radford, Director of Public Health. 

6. Recommendations 

That Members: 
 

• Note and discuss the consultation paper 

• Agree comments to be included in the response. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

ROTHERHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL – REPORT TO MEMBERS 

Agenda Item 9Page 16



 

7. Proposals and details 

Dr John Radford will be present at the meeting to take Members through the consultation 
paper and to assist with the formulation of a Council response to the paper. 

The response should be submitted by the 27th November 

8. Finance 

There are no financial implications arising directly from this report. 

9. Risks and Uncertainties 

The aim of the consultation response will be to influence the outcome from Government, 
although it is uncertain the extent to which views from Rotherham will be accommodated.  

10. Policy and Performance Agenda Implications 

It is Council policy to respond to strategic consultations where possible to attempt to 
influence the end result and to articulate a Rotherham perspective on key issues.  

11. Background Papers and Consultation 

Consultation paper attached as appendix 

12. Contact 

Deborah Fellowes, Scrutiny Manager, Resources Directorate  
Deborah.fellowes@rotherham.gov.uk, tel ext 22769 

Page 17



11

Healthy Lives, Healthy People:
Consultation on the arrangements 
for consideration of proposals on 
the fluoridation of drinking water

Page 18



© Crown copyright 2010

First published September 2012 

Published to DH website, in electronic PDF format only.

http://www.dh.gov.uk/publications

DH  INFORMATION  READER  BOX

Policy Clinical Estates

HR / Workforce Commissioner Development IM & T

Management Provider Development Finance

Planning / Performance Improvement and Efficiency Social Care / Partnership Working

Document Purpose Procedure - change

Gateway Reference 17618

Healthy Lives, Healthy People:Title
Consultation on the arrangements for consideration of proposals on the

fluoridation of drinking water

Author DH

Publication Date September 2012

Target Audience Directors of PH, Local Authority CEs, GPs, The Department for

Communities and Local Government, The Local Government Association,

British Fluoridation Society, Water UK, National Pure Water Association, 

UK Councils Against Fluoridation, Hampshire Against Fluoridation, West

Midlands Councils Against Fluoridation, All Party Parliamentary Group

Against Fluoridation, British Medical Association, British Dental

Association, Faculty of Dental Surgery, Faculty of General Dental

Practice, UK Faculty of Public Health, British Association for the Study of

Community Dentistry (BASCD), British Dental Health Foundation, Royal 

College of GPs, National Oral Health Promotion Group, Oral Health

Promotion Research Group, Royal College of Pediatrics and Child

Health, British Society for Pediatric Dentistry, National Institute for

Health and clinical Excellence (NICE)

Circulation List PCT Cluster CEs, SHA Cluster CEs

Description The scope of this consultation is confined to the process for considering

proposals for fluoridation schemes. We are not therefore consulting on

the perceived benefits or disadvantages of fluoridation.

A summary of the response to this consultation will be made available

before or alongside any further action, such as laying legislation before

Parliament and it will be placed on the Consultations website at:

Cross Ref
NA

Superseded Docs
NA

Action Required
NA

Timing By  00 January 1900

Contact Details Amit Bose

Department of Health

80 Skipton House

London

SE1 6LH

2079723700

0

For Recipient's Use

Page 19



1

Contents
Contents.................................................................................................................................... 1

Executive Summary ................................................................................................................. 4

Scope of consultation document............................................................................................ 5

Proposed options in consultation document ........................................................................ 6

How to respond ........................................................................................................................ 6

Introduction to fluoridation and the new public health system ........................................... 7

Public Health .............................................................................................................................. 7

Fluoridation ................................................................................................................................ 7

Current system........................................................................................................................... 9

Relevant provisions in Health and Social Care Act 2012.................................................... 11
Overview....................................................................................................................................12

The conduct of consultations ............................................................................................... 13

Participation in initial decision-making on a fluoridation proposal................................... 15

Preliminary consultations ......................................................................................................... 15

Notification process for the proposing local authority ............................................................... 15

Reaching a decision on whether to consult .............................................................................. 16

Background .............................................................................................................................. 16

Arrangements for a decision on whether to proceed to consultation........................................ 17

Proposal ................................................................................................................................... 17

Conditions on the decision to proceed with a consultation ....................................................... 18

Proposal ................................................................................................................................... 19

Committee membership and procedures............................................................................. 19

Introduction .............................................................................................................................. 20

Membership of a decision-making committee .......................................................................... 21

Background .............................................................................................................................. 21

Proposal ................................................................................................................................... 22

Minimum and Maximum Numbers of Members of Joint Committees. ...................................... 22

Background .............................................................................................................................. 23

Proposal ................................................................................................................................... 23

Varying approach based on number of local authorities involved ............................................ 23

Background .............................................................................................................................. 23

Proposal ................................................................................................................................... 24

Fluoridation decision-making, the consultation procedure

and assessing public opinion ............................................................................................... 26

Page 20



2

Introduction .............................................................................................................................. 26

Consultation process................................................................................................................ 27

Background .............................................................................................................................. 27

Proposal ................................................................................................................................... 28

Information provided to the public ............................................................................................ 30

Background .............................................................................................................................. 30

Proposal ................................................................................................................................... 32

Evidence Base – Role of Public Health England...................................................................... 32

Background .............................................................................................................................. 32

Assessment of public opinion................................................................................................... 34

Background .............................................................................................................................. 34

Reaching a decision on whether to proceed with a fluoridation proposal ................................. 35

Background .............................................................................................................................. 35

Proposal ................................................................................................................................... 36

Seeking agreement to fluoridate .............................................................................................. 38

Seeking agreement to fluoridate (two or three local authorities) .............................................. 39

Proposal ................................................................................................................................... 39

Seeking agreement to fluoridate (four or more local authorities).............................................. 40

Proposal ................................................................................................................................... 41

Variation, termination and maintenance of fluoridation arrangements ............................ 44

Circumstances where the Secretary of State may vary

or terminate arrangements without a request from a local authority......................................... 45

Proposal ................................................................................................................................... 46

Variation of arrangements ........................................................................................................ 47

Proposal ................................................................................................................................... 48

Maintenance of existing arrangements .................................................................................... 48

Proposal ................................................................................................................................... 49

Termination of fluoridation schemes (process)......................................................................... 50

Termination of fluoridation schemes (Timescales) ................................................................... 52

Proposal ................................................................................................................................... 52

Consultation Questions ............................................................................................................ 54

Comments on the consultation process itself ........................................................................... 57

Confidentiality of information .................................................................................................... 58

Summary of the consultation response .................................................................................... 58

Glossary.................................................................................................................................. 59

Page 21



3

ANNEX A: Overview of the Health and Social Care Act 2012 provisions.......................... 62

Overview of Health and Social Care Act 2012 provisions: initial participation in decision-
making (sections 88C, 88D, 88J and 88K) ............................................................................... 64

Overview of the Health and Social Care Act 2012 provisions: committee membership and 
procedures (sections 88F and 88M)......................................................................................... 65

Overview of Health and Social Care Act 2012 provisions: fluoridation decision-making (section 
88E and 88L)............................................................................................................................ 65

Overview of Health and Social Care Act 2012 provisions: variation, termination and 
maintenance of arrangements (sections 88I to 88O). .............................................................. 66

ANNEX B: Summary of Action Points from the Equality Analysis on the Fluoridation 
Regulations............................................................................................................................. 68

Page 22



4

Executive Summary

The White Paper, Healthy Lives, Healthy People1, described a new era for public 

health with a higher priority on the promotion of good health and wellbeing and 

dedicated resources to support these objectives. As part of this new era, local 

authorities will have a new role in improving the health of their population as part of a 

changed system with localism at its heart. Their new public health responsibilities will 

be supported by directors of public health and a ring-fenced budget. They will be 

assisted by a new integrated public health service, Public Health England, which will 

be the principal advisor on health to the local authority and will protect the population 

from any threats to health and drive delivery of improved outcomes for the 

population.

The new system means that the existing framework for consultation on fluoridation 

schemes needs to be changed. The piece of legislation that introduces this new 

system, the Health and Social Care Act 2012 (‘the 2012 Act’), gained royal assent on 

27 March 2012 and the large part of the changes it introduces will come into effect 

on 1 April 2013. The effect of the Act is that the Secretary of State for Health has 

powers to make regulations in relation to consultation and decision-making on new 

and existing fluoridation proposals.2 This is a key focus of this document. 

Importantly, the 2012 Act also transfers responsibility for proposing fluoridation 

schemes and conducting consultations on such schemes from Strategic Health 

Authorities, which will be abolished from 2013, to local authorities. Instead of having 

one Strategic Health Authority making decisions on fluoridation, local authorities will 

be required to undertake Joint Strategic Needs Assessments3 that will determine 

whether it is appropriate to draw up proposals for all or part of their populations to

receive fluoridated water. 

The new legislative provisions are not necessarily intended to increase the likelihood 

of fluoridating water supplies. The Department of Health’s aim is simply to put in 

place a fair and practical way to re-allocate and amend powers for the fluoridation of 

water. This will provide for the maintenance of existing fluoridation schemes and 

consideration of proposals for new schemes or proposals to vary or terminate 

existing schemes. 

The Department’s view is that it is appropriate that decisions on fluoridation are

locally determined. Local authorities, as democratically accountable bodies, are 

1
Department of Health (2010) Healthy Lives Healthy People: our strategy for public health in England, 

http://www.dh.gov.uk/en/Publicationsandstatistics/Publications/PublicationsPolicyAndGuidance/DH_121941
2

To note, the 2012 Act amends the 1991Water Industry Act in the main. The only powers for the Secretary of 

State for Health under the 2012 Act are in section 37.
3

For further information on Joint Strategic Needs Assessments, see the glossary section to this document.

Page 23



5

viewed as being best placed to make a decision on behalf of their local population. 

As well as improving the accountability within the system, the responsibility fits well

with local authorities’ wider public health functions. Many water supply zones cover a 

larger area than, or do not map the area exactly to that of a single authority therefore 

it is likely that under the new arrangements, multiple local authorities will need to 

come together to make joint decisions on fluoridation. 

Scope of consultation document

The consultation document is split into four broad themes: 

! participation in initial decision-making on a fluoridation proposal;

! committee membership and procedures;

! fluoridation decision-making (including consultation and ascertaining opinion); 

and

! variation, termination and maintenance of fluoridation arrangements.

The scope of this consultation is confined to the process for considering proposals 

for fluoridation schemes. We are not therefore consulting on the perceived benefits 

or disadvantages of fluoridation. We are also not consulting on the level at which

(national or local) decisions about fluoridation should be taken. Instead, we are 

seeking views on specific questions relating to the conduct of consultations on 

fluoridation proposals to ensure that the legislation and guidance supports the 

process. 

This document deals with regulations that we propose to make on the legal and 

technical aspects of the process for considering proposals for the fluoridation of 

drinking water as well as for the variation and termination of existing fluoridation

schemes. However, we also recognise that there may be the option to include further 

detail in guidance or other publications. 

The (regulatory) impact assessment is accompanied by an equality analysis which 

assesses the proposed changes in line with the public sector equality duty. 

This consultation document is an opportunity for the Department to obtain the views 

of local authorities, NHS commissioners, public health professionals, service 

providers, equality representatives and all other interested parties on the future 

arrangements for considering proposals for fluoridation schemes.

Notably, the proposals in this consultation document apply to England only. The 

Water Industry Act 1991 as amended by the 2012 Act (“the 1991 Act”) contains 

provisions for cross-border arrangements but these provisions will need to be

commenced with approval from Welsh Ministers. The Department will continue to 

work closely with the devolved administrations on any area of shared interest.

Page 24



6

Proposed options in consultation document

We propose a number of options throughout this document for how the Secretary of 

State for Health would exercise the powers to make regulations set out under the 

1991 Act as amended by the 2012 Act. In some cases, the Department has a clear 

preferred option. The rationale for selecting preferred options is described within the 

accompanying regulatory impact assessment (Ref No: 3075-RC). 

The key decision-making criteria in choosing an option include:

! does the option increase democratic accountability in the decision-making 

process? 

! does the option minimise the likelihood of disputes between local authorities?

! does the option minimise the likelihood of disputes between local authorities 

and members of the population?

! does the option increase the likelihood of local authorities maximising the 

health benefit to the local population? 

In most cases, our consultation question for each theme asks about the options that 

we have considered and the requisite level of prescription to ensure that the system

works as effectively as possible.

How to respond

For more detail about the consultation process and for a full list of the consultation 

questions, see pages 54 -56 of this document. 

This consultation will run from 4 September 2012 and close on 27 November 2012.

You can contribute to the consultation by providing written comments :

By email: amit.bose@dh.gsi.gov.uk

By post: Amit Bose
                      Department of Health

                      Skipton House

                  80 London Road

                      London SE1 6LH

Page 25



7

Introduction to fluoridation and the new public 
health system

Public Health

1. For the first time in a generation, local government will be given the 

responsibility to make a major impact in improving people’s health and tackling 

health inequalities in every community. This will include responsibility for 

developing proposals to fluoridate water supplies and consulting on those 

proposals. We envisage that such proposals will be developed where they are 

agreed to be a priority, based on local oral health needs and the need to 

reduce tooth decay.

2. The White Paper, Healthy Lives, Healthy People: Our strategy for public health 

in England4 (‘the White Paper’) outlined our commitment to protecting the 

population from serious health threats, helping people live longer, healthier 

and more fulfilling lives and improving the health of the poorest people. The 

2012 Act transposes these proposed changes into law so that, in general, the 

Secretary of State for Health will have responsibility for health protection. 

Additionally, local authorities will have responsibility for health improvement 

although they will retain certain responsibilities for health protection under 

existing legislation. 

3. The 2012 Act amends the 1991 Act to include enabling powers for new 

regulations on consultations on proposals for the introduction of new 

fluoridation schemes or for the variation or termination of existing fluoridation 

schemes. These provisions will come into force from 1 April 2013. 

4. The Department now seeks your views on our proposals for these new 

regulations.

Fluoridation

5. Fluoride is a natural mineral that is found in many foods. Fluoride is present in 

most water supplies and it was from noticing different patterns of dental decay 

in areas of naturally fluoridated water that the benefits of fluoride were first 

observed. Information from the British Fluoridation Society shows that as a 

result, arrangements were made to add fluoride to drinking water in many 

countries including the United States of America, Australia and parts of 

4
http://www.dh.gov.uk/en/Publicationsandstatistics/Publications/PublicationsPolicyAndGuidance/DH_117353ht

tp://www.dh.gov.uk/en/Publicationsandstatistics/Publications/PublicationsPolicyAndGuidance/DH_117353

Page 26



8

England.5 Accordingly, when we refer to fluoridation, we mean the process of 

adding fluoride to the water supply with a view to reaching a general target 

concentration of 1 milligram per litre level, or lower if that is not reasonably 

practicable.6 At present, approximately six million people in England receive 

water that has had its level of fluoride adjusted and in excess of a further 

million receive naturally fluoridated water at a value greater than 0.5 mg/l.7

6. In the last few decades, there have been a number of reports published on 

fluoridation. In September 2000, the University of York published a report 

called A Systematic Review of Water Fluoridation8. This report concluded that,

in cases where the water had been fluoridated, 15 per cent more children did 

not have tooth decay compared to those who were drinking unfluoridated 

water. It also showed that children in fluoridated areas had, on average, 2.25 

fewer teeth affected by decay than children in non-fluoridated areas. 

7. There is further evidence of the potential that fluoridation has in reducing 

health inequalities. In Sandwell, where the water supply was fluoridated in 

1986, five-year-old children in 2007 have an average of one decayed, missing 

or filled tooth (‘dmft’). By contrast, in Bolton which has a comparable 

population mix to Sandwell, but where there has been no fluoride added to the 

water supply, nearly twice the level of dental disease exists in children (an

average dmft of 1.9)9.

8. The only proven side effect of fluoridation is dental fluorosis10. Dental fluorosis 

is a cosmetic effect involving a white flecking of the tooth enamel. Estimates of 

the extent to which fluorosis has been found to be of aesthetic concern vary 

between 13%11 and 4%12 of cases. Through its research, the University of 

York has found no clear association between fluoride in drinking water at the 

target concentration (1 milligram per litre) and adverse effects on general 

health.

5
British Fluoridation Society, One in a Million 2012, see 

http://www.bfsweb.org/onemillion/onemillion2012.html.
6

Ibid.
7

Ibid.
8

The University of York, A Systematic Review of Water Fluoridation see 

http://www.york.ac.uk/inst/crd/fluores.htm.
9

NHS, Dental Epidemiological Programme for England Oral Health Survey of 5 year old children in 2007/08,

see http://www.nwph.net/dentalhealth/
10

The University of York, A Systematic Review of Water Fluoridation see 

http://www.york.ac.uk/inst/crd/fluores.htm.
11

Ibid.
12

Water Fluoridation and Health Medical Research Council  2002 see 

http//www.mrc.ac.uk/Utilities/Documentrecord/Index/htm?d=MRC002482.

Page 27



9

9. The Department recognises that fluoridation is not the only possible way to 

achieve better oral health. For example, the European Community’s Scientific 

Committee of Health and Environmental Risk (SCHER)13 suggests that water 

fluoridation as well as topical fluoride applications (e.g. fluoridated toothpaste 

or varnish), appear to prevent caries. In children, a narrow margin exists 

between achieving the beneficial effects of fluoride in caries prevention and the 

adverse effects of dental fluorosis.

10.The Department also recognises that there is a range of opinion on the 

benefits and risks of fluoridation and that some people have concerns based 

on ethical reasons. Our view, supported by an opinion of the European 

Commission on Human Rights14, is that fluoridation does not constitute 

compulsory medical treatment and may be a proportionate measure to 

address the legitimate public health aim of preventing tooth decay in the 

population. Nonetheless, when local authorities consider a fluoridation 

proposal, they should balance the perceived benefit of fluoridation with the 

potential risks, including the risk of dental fluorosis, as well as economic, 

environmental or social concerns.   

Current system

11.Currently, the Water Industry Act 1991 (‘the 1991 Act’), as amended by the 

Water Act 200315, is the primary legislation relating to fluoridation. The 1991 

Act provides that, if requested in writing to do so by a relevant authority, a 

water undertaker must enter into arrangements with the relevant authority to 

increase the fluoride content of the water supplied to premises within the 

specified area16. In this context, references to a “relevant authority” are to a

Strategic Health Authority in England and in Wales it means the Welsh 

Ministers.17

12.At present, Strategic Health Authorities in England have responsibility for the 

conduct of consultations on a water fluoridation scheme because water supply 

zones are generally larger than the area covered by a single Primary Care 

Trust. Primary Care Trusts also contribute to such consultations because they 

are responsible for assessing the oral health needs of their population, and 

commissioning the services required to meet these needs. 

13
Director General for Health & Consumers, Scientific Committee on Health and Environmental Risks, 

http://ec.europa.eu/health/scientific_committees/environmental_risks/docs/scher_o_139.pdf.
14

EC, Guy Jehl-Doberer v Switzerland (Application No. 17667/91).
15

Water Industry Act 2003, chapter 4 of part 3, see

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012/7/contents/enacted.
16

See section 87(1) of the Water Industry Act 1991, as inserted by s 58(2) of the Water Act 2003.
17

Ibid., see section 87(3)(a).

Page 28



10

13.The Water Fluoridation (Consultation) (England) Regulations 2005 (’the 2005 

Regulations’) set out the steps that a Strategic Health Authority must take in 

order to consult and ascertain opinion before taking any steps concerning 

fluoridation arrangements.18 The Strategic Health Authority must publish 

details of the step that they propose to take. They must also publish details of

the manner in which individuals who are affected by it (and bodies with an 

interest) can make representations regarding the proposal in one or more 

newspapers circulating in the area and in such other media accessible within 

that area as the Authority considers appropriate to bring the proposal to their 

attention.19

14.The 2005 Regulations also require a Strategic Health Authority to give notice 

of the proposal to every local authority whose area falls (wholly or partly) within 

the area affected by the proposal.20 “Local authority” can include a county 

council, a district council, a London borough council, or the Common Council 

of the City of London.21 However, as the fluoridation of water is undertaken by 

water undertakers, it is not deemed to be a substantial development or change 

to the health service and the consultation arrangements required for proposals 

for the reconfiguration of local health services under the Local Authority 

(Overview and Scrutiny Committees Health Scrutiny Functions) Regulations

200222 do not apply to fluoridation proposals. 

15. In addition, the 2005 Regulations prescribe that, in publishing details of their 

proposals, Strategic Health Authorities shall include the following details: 

! the nature of the step the Authority propose to take;

! the reasons for the proposal;

! the area affected by the proposal; and

! the period, which must not be less than 3 months from the date when the 

details are first published, in which representations can be made to the 

Authority23.

16.The 2005 Regulations also prescribe the circumstances in which a request to 

vary an existing scheme requires consultation:

a) the variation concerns the boundary of the area (water supply zone) to 

which the fluoridation arrangements relate; and

18
The Water Fluoridation (Consultation) (England) Regulations 2005, regulation 3(1).

19
Ibid, regulation 3(1)(a).

20
Ibid, regulation 3(1)(b).

21
Ibid, regulation 2(1).

22
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2002/3048/contents/made

23
The Water Fluoridation (Consultation) (England) Regulations 2005, regulation 3(2).

Page 29



11

b) the number of houses that would be affected by the variation, either by 

being brought within the area (i.e. new fluoridation) or from it, exceeds 

20% of the number of houses within the area at the time the request is 

made.24

Relevant provisions in the Health and Social Care 
Act 2012

17.The relevant provisions on water fluoridation can be found at sections 35-37 of 

the 2012 Act. These sections amend chapter 4 of Part 3 of the Water Industry 

Act 199125 relating to fluoridation and are not of themselves subject to further 

consultation. 

18.The new provisions are not intended to make fluoridation of water supply more 

or less likely. The Department’s aim is simply to put in place a fair and practical 

way to reallocate and amend statutory powers for water fluoridation. These 

statutory powers relate to considering proposals for new schemes or to vary, 

terminate or maintain existing fluoridation schemes.

19.Section 35 of the 2012 Act amends section 87 of the 1991 Act, so as to 

transfer the responsibility for entering into contracts for fluoridation schemes 

with the water undertaker to fluoridate a water supply from Strategic Health 

Authorities to the Secretary of State. In practice, we intend this function to be 

exercised by Public Health England, which will be an executive agency of the 

Department. We believe that, as negotiating and managing contracts with 

water companies for fluoridation is a complex legal and technical process, this 

process can most efficiently be carried out at a national level. However, a local 

authority served by that water supply must request it. This ensures that the 

system is driven from a local level.

20.The procedural requirements are then set out in section 36 of the 2012 Act that 

amends sections 88B to 88O of the 1991 Act. The new sections include 

powers for the Secretary of State to make regulations as to the procedure to 

be adopted by local authorities in ascertaining public opinion on new or 

existing proposals for fluoridation schemes. As before, the detail of the 

consultation requirements is left to regulations.  We have set out a full 

description of the relevant provisions of the 2012 Act at Annex A to this 

document.

24
The Water Fluoridation (Consultation) (England) Regulations 2005, regulation 4(1).

25
Water Industry Act 1991, see http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1991/56/contents.

Page 30



12

Diagram 1 (below) gives a high-level overview of the process that would need to be 

followed where a local authority wishes to pursue a proposal to fluoridate its water 

supply. 

Diagram 1: Overview of fluoridation proposal process

1

Proposing local authority makes 
arrangements for joint decision-

making committee

Notify other 
affected local 

authorities

Proposing Local authority 

2

No further steps 
may be taken

Secretary of State for 
Health is satisfied.

Secretary of 
State for 

Health is not 
satisfied.

3

4

Local 
authorities 

make a 
decision on 
whether to 
proceed 

5

Consult 6
Decide whether to proceed 
with a fluoridation proposal. 

7

Ask the Secretary of State for Health to 
make arrangements with a water 

company to fluoridate the water.

8

Secretary of State for Health is not satisfied that 
legal requirements in relation to decision-making 

have been met 

Secretary of State for Health is satisfied that legal 
requirements in

relation to decision-making have been met

Secretary of State for Health enters into 
arrangements with the water company to 

fluoridate the water

Local authority identifies an oral health 
need on basis of advice from Director 

of Public Health

Formal legislative process in relation to fluoridation

Public Health England (PHE)

Database of evidence and research. 
Advisory role where appropriate

Discussion at Health and Wellbeing Board and incorporation into joint strategic 
needs assessment (JSNA) and Health and Wellbeing Strategy

Local authority decides 
to pursue a fluoridation 

proposal

Informal process

Return to step 6 (re-consult)

Consult Water Company as to the 
technical feasibility of the proposal, if 
the supply area could be fluoridated 

and whether the proposal is 
operable and efficient.

Consult Secretary of State for Health on
whether the proposal is operable, 
efficient and affordable in light of 

information from the water company in 
collaboration with the Secretary of State 

for the Environment 

Secretary of 
State for the 
Environment 

notified of 
decision for 
company to 

fluoridate the 
water to 
ensure 

technical 
compliance 

and
monitoring.

Page 31



13

The conduct of consultations

21.The existing legislative framework related to consultation on proposals for 

fluoridation schemes needs to be amended to reflect the new public health 

system. The Department seeks your views for proposals for the operation of 

the new system that gives new functions to local authorities with the abolition 

of Strategic Health Authorities.

22.The Department’s view is that decisions on fluoridation should be determined 

locally and that local authorities, as democratically accountable bodies, are 

best placed to make a decision on behalf of their local population. The scope 

of this consultation is therefore focused (and limited to) consultation on the 

process for considering proposals relating to fluoridation. 

23.The Department is not consulting on the perceived benefits or disadvantages 

of fluoridation, nor are we consulting on whether decisions relating to 

fluoridation should be taken at a national or local level. (The 2012 Act already 

provides that the development and consideration of proposals is for local 

authorities, with the Secretary of State holding responsibility for making 

arrangements with the water undertakers).

24. In the 2012 Act, there are a large number of regulation-making powers relating 

to water supply fluoridation within the new provisions of the Water Industry Act 

1991 (as inserted by section 35 - 37 of the 2012 Act). Before the relevant 

regulations can be drafted, the Department needs the advice and experience 

of those working at a local level and wishes to ensure that people with 

protected characteristics26 contribute to the consultation to create legislation 

that is relevant, practicable and proportionate. (Please also see the 

accompanying equality analysis document.)

25.The Department is seeking views on a number of specific questions relating to 

the process for considering fluoridation proposals to ensure legislation and 

guidance support the process. To make the issues more accessible, we have 

grouped the regulation-making powers within four themes: 

1. participation in initial decision-making;

2. committee membership and procedures;

3. fluoridation decision-making, including the consultation procedure

and assessing public opinion;

26
‘Protected characteristics’ references the equality strands that are protected under equality legislation. 

Namely: age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual 

orientation; see section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 for a list of the protected characteristics and the obligations 

on public authorities. 

Page 32



14

4. variation, termination and maintenance of fluoridation 

arrangements.

26.Each theme corresponds to a chapter heading within the consultation 

document and each chapter will:

1. explain the background;

2. include a discussion of the issue;

3. include options (where possible); and 

4. set out the consultation question(s).

Page 33



15

Participation in initial decision-making on a 
fluoridation proposal

Cross Reference to relevant sections of the Water Industry Act 1991 as 

inserted by the 2012 Act:

Section 88D – Procedural requirements and additional requirements where other 

local authorities are affected in connection with fluoridation of water supplies

Section 88K – Variation or termination and additional requirements where 

other local authorities are affected

Preliminary consultations

27.The 1991 Act sets out a number of initial steps that a local authority must take 

when making a fluoridation proposal. These initial steps include the local 

authority (“the proposer”)27 consulting with the relevant water undertakers and 

the Secretary of State to ensure that the proposed scheme is operable and 

efficient28. A proposal needs to be operable and efficient to be approved. (In 

practice, we expect that the Secretary of State of Health’s duty to ensure that a

proposed scheme is operable and efficient will, in practice, be carried out by 

Public Health England, the Department of Health’s executive agency in 

consultation with the Drinking Water Inspectorate.)

Notification process for the proposing local authority

28.Once this preparatory work has been completed including confirmation from 

the water company of the area it would be practicable to fluoridate, section 

88D(2) of the 1991 Act requires the proposing local authority to notify any 

other local authority affected by the proposal. An affected local authority is one

whose area, or any part of it, is within the proposed area of the fluoridation 

scheme29. Under section 88D(3) of the 1991 Act, the proposer must then make 

arrangements to enable the affected local authorities to decide whether further 

steps in relation to the proposal should be taken.

29.Section 88J of the 1991 Act requires a similar procedural process for 

proposals to vary or terminate a fluoridation scheme.30 However, sections 88K-

M also provide powers to make regulations to specify when the procedural 

requirements do not apply to such proposals (see paragraphs 145 - 151 for 

further detail).

27
See section 88B(5) of the Water Industry Act 1991 as inserted by s 36 of the Health and Social Care Act 2012 

(“the 2012 Act”).
28

See section 88B and C of the Water Industry Act 1991 as inserted by s 36 of the 2012 Act.
29

Ibid., see section 88B.
30

Ibid., see section 88J.

Page 34



16

30. In a case where the proposed area for fluoridation falls within the area of 

a single local authority, the authority may proceed to consult without 

going through the joint decision making process prescribed by section 

88D of the 1991 Act. (This is discussed in further detail below).

31.Under the new section 88D(2) of the 1991 Act, for any new proposal, the
proposing local authority must notify any other local authority which is 
affected.

32.The new section 88K(2) of the 1991 Act contains a similar requirement for a

local authority that proposes a variation or termination of a fluoridation 

scheme. 

Reaching a decision on whether to consult

Issue for discussion:
How should affected local authorities decide on whether or not to proceed with
a proposal? 

Background

33.The proposing local authority and the other local authorities affected by the 

proposal need to decide whether to proceed with a fluoridation proposal.

34.Under section 88D(3) of the 1991 Act, the proposer must make arrangements 

for enabling the authorities affected by the proposal to decide whether further 

steps should be taken in relation to the proposal. Further, under section 

88D(4), the Secretary of State must by regulations make provision as to the 

arrangements which must be made for this purpose and prescribe conditions, 

with respect to the outcome of the arrangements which must be satisfied 

before any further steps in relation to the proposal may be taken.

35.We consider that there should be a less formal approach for a decision on 

whether to proceed to consult on a proposal in comparison to the process by 

which local authorities determine whether a fluoridation request should be 

accepted. 

Page 35



17

Arrangements for a decision on whether to proceed to consultation

Option 1: Require the proposing local authority to provide sufficient 

information on the reasons why it is considering a proposal on fluoridation.

This would allow the local authorities affected to make a decision on whether 

to proceed with consultations on the proposal. In addition, require the 

proposing local authority to respond to requests for further information about 

the background to the proposal.

Option 2: As option 1 but, in addition, the proposer should request 

confirmation that each authority consider the relevance of the proposal to its 

Joint Strategic Needs Assessment31 and its Joint Health and Wellbeing 

Strategy.

Option 3: As option 2 but, in addition, the proposer should request that 

each affected local authority has consulted its director of public health about 

the proposal.

Proposal

36.Our preferred option is option 1. In relation to the arrangements to enable a 

decision, we propose that, as a minimum, the regulations should require the 

proposing local authority to provide sufficient information on its proposal to 

allow the local authorities affected to make a decision whether to proceed with 

the consultation process. We consider that the information should include a

copy of the water undertaker’s report on the proposal’s feasibility including the 

likely supply area that would result from such a proposal , the Secretary of 

State for Health’s confirmation that the proposal is operable and efficient, and 

early cost estimates.

37.We also suggest that the proposing local authority should be required to 

respond to requests for further information from an affected local authority. For

example, the background to a proposal, its technical details or such other 

issues as the Department might include in guidance. The proposer should then 

request that each affected local authority notifies them of whether or not they 

wish to proceed with consultations on the proposal, within 3 calendar months.

38.We propose that we include in the regulations to be made under section 

88D(4) that affected local authorities do not have to participate in the collective 

decision-making process but, if they choose not to participate, a decision 

would be made by the other local authorities. Where a local authority has failed 

31
See the “glossary” section of this document for an explanation of a Joints Strategic Needs Assessment 

(JSNA).

Page 36



18

to inform the proposing authority of its decision whether to proceed with the 

proposal within the 3 calendar months, the local authority is assumed to be 

opting out of the decision-making process. Any local authority that opts out is

not to be counted for the purposes of determining whether there is a sufficient 

majority in favour of proceeding.

39. In addition to those requirements, we are also considering whether to adopt 

option 2 or 3. That is, the proposer should be required to request or require 

confirmation that:

! each authority has considered the relevance of the proposal to its Joint 

Strategic Needs Assessment and its Joint Health and Well-Being 

Strategy;32 and/or

! each authority has consulted its director of public health.

.

40.We seek your views on which option is the most appropriate.

Conditions on the decision to proceed with a consultation

41.Section 88D(4) of the 1991 Act has been inserted to require the Secretary of 

State of Health to prescribe conditions with respect to the outcome of the

affected local authorities’ consideration of whether to proceed to consult on a 

fluoridation proposal. These conditions must be satisfied before any further 

steps may be taken in relation to the proposal.

42.We suggest that it would be inappropriate if one or more local authorities, with 

only a small proportion of the population that would be affected by the 

proposal, had a right of veto. Our intention in making this set of regulations is 

to ensure that the process for this initial joint decision on a proposal is as 

simple as possible whilst taking account of the interests of the majority of the 

people that would be affected.

43.We seek your views on the following options on conditions that the Secretary 

of State may prescribe:

Option 1: Require only that the proposing local authority needs to agree to 

the proposal before proceeding to consultation.

Option 2 Require that the proposing local authority plus a simple majority 

of affected local authorities to agree in order to proceed.

32
See sections 116 and 116B of the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007, as amended 

by chapter 2, Part 5 (section 192, 193, 196) of the 2012 Act. 

Page 37



19

Option 3: Require that the proposing local authority plus a super-majority 

(eg two-thirds) of affected local authorities need to agree in order to proceed.

Option 4: Require all affected local authorities need to agree to proceed.

Proposal

44.Our preferred option is 3. We suggest that this is the most appropriate option 

because, for a proposal to proceed to consultation, it seems sensible that a

significant number (two-thirds) of local authorities are in favour of proceeding 

with the consultation exercise. (Any local authority which does not reply to the 

proposer within the 3 months would be excluded from this calculation.)

45.Additionally, there is existing precedent in local government legislation to use a 

two-thirds super-majority for collective decision-making. This is used, for 

example, in section 48 of the Local Government Act 1985 which requires a 

two-thirds majority of London boroughs to agree to a pan-London voluntary 

sector grant funded by all boroughs.33 Once a joint decision to proceed has 

been reached, the joint committee can determine its membership, conduct a 

consultation on the proposal and decide its outcome as below. 

Consultation questions 1-3:

1. Do you agree with our proposals for the arrangements to enable a joint 

decision to proceed with a proposal?

2. Do you agree that a decision to proceed with fluoridation should be made 

on a super-majority basis (option 3)?

3. Are there any other approaches that you believe could work better?

Committee membership and procedures

Cross Reference to relevant sections of the Water Industry Act 1991 as inserted by 

the 2012 Act:

Section 88F – Decision-making procedure: exercise of functions by committee 

Section 88M– Decision-making procedure: exercise of functions by committee (variation or 

termination)

33
The Local Government Act 1985 can be accessed at: 

http://www.lexisnexis.com/uk/legal/search/runRemoteLink.do?bct=A&risb=21_T15103353214&homeCsi=274

768&A=0.15492146306341736&urlEnc=ISO-8859-1&&dpsi=02O0&remotekey1=DOC-

ID&remotekey2=58837&service=DOC-ID&origdpsi=02O0

Page 38



20

Introduction

46.Subject to some exceptions, local authorities must use a joint committee to 

exercise the fluoridation functions, such as complying with requirements to 

consult and make final decisions in relation to a fluoridation proposal (see

section 88F(1) and (2) of the 1991 Act).

47.The 1991 Act as amended by the 2012 Act provides that local authorities who 

are affected by a fluoridation proposal must arrange for an existing joint 

committee to exercise the fluoridation functions, establish a joint committee of 

the authorities for that purpose or arrange for their Health and Wellbeing 

Boards established under section 194 of the Health and Social Care Act 2012 

to exercise the fluoridation functions (see section 88F(2)). The two 

circumstances where this requirement does not apply is where there is only 

one local authority (the proposer) or where no other affected local authority

has informed the proposer that they wish to participate in the exercise of the 

fluoridation functions (see section 88F(1)(b)).

48.Section 88F(4) and 88M(6) of the 1991 Act enable the Secretary of State to 

make regulations related to committee membership and procedures, including:

! the membership of an existing joint committee established to perform this role 

which meets prescribed conditions as to its membership;  

! the membership of any new joint committee established to perform this role

which meets prescribed conditions as to its membership;

! the membership of a joint sub-committee of Health and Wellbeing Boards 

established under section 198(b) of the 2012 Act to perform this role; and

! the procedure to be followed by any joint committee or any joint sub-

committee of Health and Wellbeing Boards in exercising the fluoridation 

functions34.

49.To note, in relation to the Health and Wellbeing Boards, section 88F(2) and (3) 

and 88M(2) and (5) of the 1991 Act provide that, as an alternative to 

establishing a new joint committee or using an existing one, local authorities 

may arrange for their Health and Wellbeing Boards to exercise their

fluoridation functions. The Boards must then exercise their powers under 

section 198(b) of the 2012 Act to establish a joint sub-committee to exercise 

those functions. Any references to a “joint committee” in this document include 

a joint sub-committee of Health and Wellbeing Boards established under this 

provision.

34
We see that it will be important to ensure that the joint committee, in whatever manifestation it takes, has a 

broad range of representatives. We would expect the committee to include public health staff from the local 

authorities as well as democratically elected members see section 88F(4) of the 2012 Act.

Page 39



21

Membership of a decision-making committee

Background

50.A significant advantage of transferring responsibility from Strategic Health 

Authorities to local authorities is that democratically-elected representatives 

will be able to feed into the decision-making process directly.

51.Under sections 88F and 88M, the local authority affected by the proposal must 

establish a joint committee or sub-committee or use an existing joint sub-

committee. The Secretary of State of Health then has powers to make 

regulations specifying the membership of a joint committee or sub-committee 

exercising the fluoridation functions (see sections 88F(4) and 88M(6) of the 

1991 Act). In addition, HealthWatch, or other patient representatives, could be 

required to contribute to the decision-making process.

52.Whilst the Department values the experience and expertise of health 

professionals, its view is that, as well as experts, the membership of the 

committee should be drawn from a wider range of people who represent the 

broader community interests.’

53. In order to maintain and promote transparency, the Department recommends 
that as much accurate and evidence based information as possible be placed 
in the public domain, and that the joint committee hold its meetings in public to 
ensure accountable and transparent decision making. These meetings will be 
subject to regulations set out in Part 5A of the Local Government Act 1972.

Issues for discussion

! Who should be a member of a joint committee exercising fluoridation 

functions? 

54. The main options for membership that we have considered are: 

Option 1: No prescription through regulations.

Option 2: Some prescription through regulations, for example specifying 

that elected representatives must form a majority of the 

committee.

Page 40



22

Proposal

55.We suggest that the most appropriate option is 1. The Department’s view is

that decisions on committee membership be determined by local authorities 

because these authorities are democratically accountable bodies so are best 

placed to make decisions on behalf of their local population. This fits well with 

the wider public health functions carried out by local authorities and we believe 

that, by placing these meetings in the public domain, there will be improved

transparency and accountability within the system.

56.The Department is considering altering the approach where there are four or 

more committees. Section 88F(4)(b) and 88M(6)(b) of the 1991 Act gives the 

Secretary of State regulation making powers to specify the rules for holding 

and vacating office. For example, regulations could specify who appoints the 

members, on what terms, and how they could be removed.

57.We propose that the regulatory framework should leave these decisions to 

local determination – an affected locally authority ought to decide the 

membership of a joint committee - but we would appreciate your views on 

whether this is an appropriate approach.

Consultation questions 45:

4.Do you agree that the membership of the committee established to 

progress a proposal on fluoridation does not need to be prescribed in 

regulations?

5. Do you agree that we do not need to make regulations in relation to 

holding and vacating office?

Minimum and Maximum Numbers of Members of Joint Committees

58.The regulations to be made under section 88F(4) of the 1991 Act could also 

prescribe that for a joint committee there should be:

! a specified minimum membership;

! a specified maximum membership; or 

! both a minimum and maximum number of members.

Issues for discussion

Should there be a minimum number membership for a joint committee, a

maximum number membership or both a minimum or maximum number 

membership specified in legislation? 

Page 41



23

Background

59.The Department is considering a range of options on membership numbers as

set out below: 

Option 1: Impose no requirements as to numbers.

Option 2: Prescribe a minimum number of members to ensure that 

decisions are not made by a small group, which may not 

represent the wider view.

Option 3: Prescribe both a minimum and maximum number of members.  

Option 4: Prescribe a maximum number of members.

Proposal

60.We suggest that option 1 would be the most appropriate. We do not feel that 
legislation is necessary. We want to ensure maximum flexibility for the affected 
local authorities to engage with whomever they feel is appropriate. We expect 
that local authorities would want to involve a range of professional and public 
representatives as part of the decision-making process. However, we also 
recognise that there is a risk that committees could become unwieldy and 
heavily weighted in favour of one viewpoint. 

Varying approach based on number of local authorities involved

Issue for discussion:
Should the statutory approach vary depending on the number of local 
authorities involved?

Background

61.We suggest that the membership of a joint committee may need to be adapted
in the regulations to be made under sections 88F (4) and 88M (6) of the 1991 
Act where there are a large number of local authorities involved. This is 
because the proposed membership criteria may make the joint committee too
large and therefore unwieldy and less effective. 

62.Where there are only two or three local authorities affected, discussion of a
fluoridation proposal is likely to be less complex than reaching consensus 

Consultation question 6:
6. Do you agree that regulations for minimum and maximum membership of a 
joint committee would be too prescriptive?

Page 42



24

amongst more local authorities. Therefore, where there are a large number of 
local authorities35, we anticipate that there will need to be an alternative 
approach to allow all of the local authorities to feed in effectively to the 
consultation and decision-making process. We have suggested four local
authorities as a cut-off because we believe that, with two or three local 
authorities, it would be possible for the local authorities to agree membership
of the joint committee without the committee becoming too large. .

Option 1: Make no prescription in regulations.

Option 2: Prescribe an alternative approach for joint committees where there 
are a large number of local authorities as in a major conurbation like 
Greater Manchester. For example, include a straight forward 
requirement in the regulations that the committee needs to consist 
of equal numbers of representatives from each local authority. (The 
number would be agreed by the authorities or prescribed in 
regulations.)

Proposal

63.Our preferred option is 2 in circumstances where there are a large number of 
local authorities involved.

64.We propose that the regulations to be made under sections 88F(4) and 88M(6) 
of the 1991 Act will need to provide for specification of  the membership of joint 
committees representing four or more local authorities. As required by the 
1991 Act, the joint committee would have the responsibility for conducting the 
consultation and deciding on whether to fluoridate, but it would be required to 
consider the views of each local authority Health and Wellbeing Board. We 
therefore suggest prescribing an alternative set of requirements for
membership where there are four or more local authorities affected.

65.We also propose that when these authorities reach the point of making a 
decision on whether to proceed with a fluoridation proposal and consensus 
cannot be, then the decision be determined by population-weighted voting (see
paragraph 127 for further detail.)

66.For joint committees of local authorities, we propose to lay out our thoughts on 
best practice in guidance. We envisage that best practice will be for each local 
authority to appoint a committee or use an existing committee of the authority.
For example, a local authority could use the power in section 196(2) of the 
2012 Act to give its Health and Wellbeing Board responsibility for a fluoridation 
proposal. If so, a joint sub-committee of the Health and Wellbeing Boards of all 
the affected local authorities might be established. It would then be for the 
individual Boards to decide how to appoint and liaise with their representative 
on the joint sub-committee.

35
The Department considers that, where fluoridation proposals are under consideration, a large number of local 

authorities is four or more.

Page 43



25

67.When there are four or more affected local authorities, we think that a joint 
committee would be the least burdensome and the most democratic approach.
The nominated representative(s) should be appointed to the joint committee 
and should represent the agreed position of the relevant authority or Board.
The procedure to be adopted by the joint committee would not be prescribed in 
regulations.

Consultation questions 7-9:
7. Do you agree that there should be an alternative approach in the regulations 
when there are a large number of affected local authorities? 
8. If so, should this be adopted when there are four or more local authorities? 
9. Do you agree that a joint committee of Health and Wellbeing Boards might be an 
efficient approach?

Page 44



26

Fluoridation decision-making, the consultation 
procedure and assessing public opinion

Cross Reference to relevant sections of the Water Industry Act 1991 inserted by the 

2012 Act:

Section 88E – Decision on fluoridation proposal 

Section 88L(2) and (8) – Decisions on variation or termination proposals

Section 88F(4)(d) and 88M (6)(d) – procedures to be followed by a joint committee 

considering proposals

Introduction

68.Once the affected local authorities have decided that they wish to proceed with 
a proposal for a new scheme or a proposal to vary or terminate a scheme, the
1991 Act (as inserted by the 2012 Act) provides that the proposing authority 
would need to consult and ascertain opinion in relation to the proposal. The 
proposer would then make a final decision on whether to request the Secretary 
of State for Health to enter arrangements with the water undertaker. 

69.However, in cases where there are one or more local authorities, other than 
the proposing authority affected by the proposals, and one or more of those 
authorities wish to participate in the consultation and decision making process, 
the authorities must establish a joint committee (see section 88F(2) and 
88M(2)). The joint committee will conduct the consultation and make the final 
decision on the fluoridation proposal. This chapter deals with the proposed 
requirements related to consulting and ascertaining opinion and the proposed 
requirements relating to the final decision

70.Sections 88E(2) and 88L(2) of the 1991 Act give the Secretary of State power 
to prescribe the steps to be taken for the purposes of consulting and 
ascertaining opinion on a fluoridation proposal. The Secretary of State for 
Health can prescribe the procedure to be followed by the proposer when 
consulting (see sections 88E(6)(b) and 88L(6)(b)).

71.Notably, the 2005 Regulations36 will be replaced by new regulations on
consultations made under the powers in sections 88E and 88L of the 1991 Act
and there are exceptions to the requirement to consult in the case of a 
proposal to vary or terminate a fluoridation scheme (see paragraphs 145 and 
151 below).

72.Following consultation, the joint committee (or proposing authority if there is no 
such committee) must consider the outcome of the consultation and decide 
whether to request the Secretary of State for Health to make arrangements
with the water undertaker as in section 88E(5) of the 1991 Act. The Secretary 
of State for Health has powers to make regulations specifying the factors 

36
see http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/921/contents/made

Page 45



27

which a joint committee (or proposing authority) must consider in deciding 
whether to proceed with a proposal (sections 88E(6)(a) and 88L(6)(a)) and to 
make provision as to the procedure to be followed in making that decision
(sections 88E(6)(b) and 88L(8)(b)).

Consultation process

Issues for discussion:

What should the requirements be for a consultation on a fluoridation 

proposal?

Background

73.Sections 88E(2) and 88L(2) of the 1991 Act give the Secretary of State for 
Health power to prescribe the steps to be taken for the purposes of consulting 
and ascertaining opinion on a fluoridation proposal. The Secretary of State for 
Health can prescribe the procedure to be followed by the proposer when 
consulting (see sections 88E(6)(b) and 88L(6)(b)).

74.Currently, the 2005 Regulations specify a number of steps that must be taken 

to ensure a wide-ranging and well-informed consultation. As discussed above 

in the introduction, Strategic Health Authorities are under a duty to publish 

details of each step that they propose to take and the manner in which affected 

individuals or interested bodies can make representations regarding the 

proposal:

! in one or more newspapers circulating within the relevant area; and

! in other such accessible media considered appropriate37.

75.The published details must then include:

! the nature of the step the Authority propose to take;

! the reasons for the proposal;

! the area affected by the proposal; and

! the period, being a period of not less than 3 months from the date on which 

the details are first published, within which representations can be made to

the Authority38.

76. In addition, the 2005 Regulations require the Strategic Health Authority to 

notify every affected local authority.39 Naturally, this requirement will not be 

relevant under the 1991 Act as amended by the 2012 Act.

37
Water Fluoridation (Consultation) (England) Regulations 2005, regulation 3.

38
Ibid, regulation 3(2).

39
Ibid, regulation 3(1)(b).

Page 46



28

77.We seek your views on the following options for the requirements to be 

imposed for consultation purposes:

Option 1: Impose no requirements on local authorities and joint committees.

Option 2: Retain existing provision with minor revisions (e.g. without the 

requirement for a Strategic Health Authority to notify affected local 

authorities).

Option 3: Retain existing provision and specify in guidance some additional steps 

for local authorities, such as:

! a requirement to circulate an information pack containing copies of 

the formal consultation document to Members of Parliament to 

affected constituencies;

! a requirement to hold a press conference to announce the 

proposals;

! a requirement to hold a public meeting; and

! a requirement to display posters on affected local authorities’

premises. 

Proposal

78.We propose that the most appropriate option is 2. It is important that a local 

authority or a joint committee has the discretion to determine the most effective 

way to undertake a consultation exercise for their local population. This 

approach is likely to be different depending on the local population and it is 

considered that it may not be appropriate for the Department to prescribe each 

and every step. 

79.Option 3 could be considered too prescriptive. We consider that the current 

2005 Regulations prescribe the minimum requirements for the conduct of a 

consultation in enabling the public and other interested parties to make an 

informed response to the consultation. However, we do recognise that we 

could adopt a set of new and/or additional requirements. We therefore invite

views on the options here.

80.We expect local authorities, as public bodies, to act in accordance with their 

existing duties under the Equality Act 201040. We are nevertheless seeking 

advice on best practice examples or suggestions for specific steps that local 

authorities should take in relation to consulting vulnerable groups on

fluoridation. We would like to ensure that vulnerable groups are able to access

40
Equality Act 2010, see section 149 at http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/15/contents.

Page 47



29

and participate in consultation. We seek any information or views on whether 

any specific requirements are necessary in the regulations to minimise any 

potential adverse impacts or disadvantages for groups with a “protected 

characteristic” under the Equality Act.

81.Under the Equality Act, the eight protected characteristics that relate to 

obligations on public authorities are:

1. age;

2. disability;

3. gender reassignment;

4. pregnancy and maternity;

5. race;

6. religion or belief;

7. sex; and

8. sexual orientation41.

82.Alternatively, advice on how to encourage people with protected 
characteristics to participate in consultations could be included in our 
guidance.

83. In fact, the guidance could go wider to reflect the new duty which is due to be 
imposed on the Secretary of State by new section 1C of the 2006 NHS Act to 
have regard to the need to reduce inequality between people with respect to 
the benefits that they can obtain from the health service. This will require the 
Secretary of State “to have regard to the need to reduce health inequalities, 
whatever their cause, including those caused by socio-economic status and 
geography.”

84.Taking account of the likelihood that children in deprived areas have most to 
benefit from fluoridation, the guidance could, for example, include advice on 
how children and families with young children can contribute to consultations. 
Similarly, the guidance could recommend that advice is sought from 
community advocates for ethnic minority groups on how to communicate the 
arrangements for a consultation to their members. In this way, we have 
included at Annex B a summary of action points from the Equality Analysis on 
these regulations.

41
Equality Act 2010, section 149(1).

Consultation questions 10-15
10. Do you agree that the existing requirements for conducting consultations 
remain appropriate; or are there any further steps in relation to consultations
that you feel a local authority or the joint committee should take?
11. Should there be any other further changes to the proposed consultation 
requirements?

Page 48



30

85.Finally with regard to the conduct of consultations, in giving initial approval to 
an impact assessment on our proposals for the fluoridation regulations, the 
Regulatory Policy Committee requested that during the consultation we asked 
for any information available on estimates of the cost benefits of fluoridation 
and the costs that local authorities would be likely to incur in preparing for and
conducting consultations.

Information provided to the public

Issues for discussion:

Should there be any additional requirements on local authorities in relation to 
informing the public about fluoridation?   

Background

86.Although we do not want to be overly prescriptive as to how a consultation 

exercise is undertaken, it is important to consider and clarify the role that local 

authorities should have in informing the public about a fluoridation proposal. 

87. In any given consultation, it is likely that the controversial nature of fluoridation 

could create misunderstandings. The Department therefore believes that the 

12. Are there any requirements that you would like to suggest that we include 
in regulations to minimise or remove any potential adverse impacts or 
disadvantages for groups with a “protected characteristic” as set out under 
the Equality Act? 
13. Do you agree that children and young families in deprived areas should be 
encouraged to participate in consultations on proposals for new fluoridation 
schemes?
14. Will this contribute to implementation of the duty on the Secretary of State 
to have regard to the need to reduce health inequalities between people with 
respect to the benefits they can obtain from the health service?
15. Do you agree that the new duty which is due to be imposed on the 
Secretary of State  to have regard to the need to reduce inequality- whatever 
its cause - is relevant to proposals to introduce fluoridation schemes?

Consultation question 16: Do you have any information:

! on the cost benefits of fluoridation schemes and/or

! the costs a local authority would incur in conducting a consultation 

Page 49



31

public should receive information from a local authority or joint committee that

is factual and reflects a balance of arguments for and against fluoridation. This 

is not to say that a local authority or a joint committee should not be able to 

make a statement in support of fluoridation.

88.As the director of public health for the local authority may be a member of the 

joint committee, directors of public health may already have a role in the 

decision-making process. However, there may be scope for a formal 

requirement for the joint committee to take the advice of the director of public 

health on the content of the consultation material, to ensure an additional 

check for it to ensure that it is evidence-based.

89.A key role of the director of public health will be to facilitate innovation and new 

approaches to promoting and protecting health. Whilst, at the same time,

bringing a rigorous approach to evaluating what works, using the resources of 

Public Health England.  Directors of public health will represent the interests of 

their local authorities, but also exercise the appropriate professional 

independence where necessary to advocate for the health of the local 

population. During a consultation exercise, it will be vitally important that the 

public are able to have trust in the decision-making process and understand 

the evidence both for and against fluoridation. In the Department’s view,

therefore, the director of public health is best placed to ensure consultation 

material accurately reflects the most up-to-date evidence. 

90.To facilitate the role of directors of public health, the options appear to be:

Option 1: No additional prescription.

Option 2: Prescribe in regulations that a local authority or a joint 

committee must, in preparing the consultation material, take advice from the 

relevant director (or directors) of public health.

Option 3: Prescribe what type of information that a local authority or a joint 

committee should provide to support a consultation. 

Page 50



32

Proposal

91.On balance, we propose that option 3 is too prescriptive and unnecessary. In 

particular, a local authority or a joint committee charged with a duty to carry out 

consultation must comply with the requirements of public law (including the 

Equality Act) which require a public body to provide sufficient information 

during a consultation exercise and to make the consultation process equally

accessible to all persons. We think any detail about how such information is to 

be provided would be more appropriate for the guidance that we intend to 

issue on implementation of the regulations. This is consistent with the existing 

approach.

92.We believe that a local authority or the joint committee would take a pragmatic 

and responsible approach to consultation, and comply with the usual legal 

requirements, and that further prescription would be unnecessary or overly 

burdensome. However, directors of public health have an important role to play 

in both preparation of the consultation process. We suggest that there should 

be a prescribed procedural requirement to obtain the advice of the director of 

public health (option 2).

Evidence Base – Role of Public Health England

Background

93.The Public Health Outcomes Framework42 (“the Framework document”) 

aligned with the NHS outcomes framework43 and the Adult Social Care 

Outcomes Framework44 will provide a basis for analysis of the health and 

wellbeing of the local population. We have set out a broad structure in the 

42
Department of Health, Public Health Outcomes Framework, see http://www.dh.gov.uk/health/2012/01/public-

health-outcomes/
43

Department of Health NHS Outcomes Framework 2012.13 see 

http://www.dh.gov.uk/en/Publicationsandstatistics/Publications/PublicationsPolicyAndGuidance/DH_131700
44

Department of Health Adult Social Care Outcomes Framework see

http://www.dh.gov.uk/en/Publicationsandstatistics/Publications/PublicationsPolicyAndGuidance/DH_133334

Consultation questions 17-19:
17. Do you agree that no specific requirements are needed on consultation 
material or other information provided to the public (other than those specified 
in public law and in paragraphs 73- 76)?
18. Do you agree that the proposing local authority or joint committee should 
nevertheless be required to obtain advice from the director(s) of public health?
19. If no, what requirements do you think should be imposed?

Page 51



33

Framework document to show a high-level vision for public health outcomes, 

supported by a broad set of indicators grouped into four domains. Indicators 

have been included which cover the spectrum of public health, and what we 

can realistically measure.

94.Data relating to outcomes will be published in one place by Public Health 

England to enable national and local democratic accountability for 

performance against those outcomes. This will make it easy for local areas to 

benchmark local performance and compare themselves with others across the 

country. The Framework document includes an indicator on tooth decay in 

children aged 5 years old. Inclusion of this indicator will encourage local areas 

to focus on and prioritise oral health and oral health improvement initiatives 

which can be very effective in preventing tooth decay. The fluoridation of water 

is one measure that helps to reduce the rate of tooth decay in children.

95.The Department believes that Public Health England could play a valuable role 

in collecting evidence on the effects on health of the fluoridation of water as 

well as providing evidence on any alternative options relating to dental public 

health. However, Public Health England will only ever play an advisory role. 

Public Health England will never make a decision on whether an area should 

be subject to fluoridation because we feel that these types of key decisions on 

fluoridation should be made at a local level. 

96. It is intended, however, that Public Health England maintain a database on the 

effects of fluoridation by monitoring relevant research conducted globally in 

liaison with the Drinking Water Inspectorate which has the statutory 

responsibility for the quality of drinking water. Public Health England could 

also coordinate the monitoring and reporting on the health of populations in the 

UK receiving fluoridated water in accordance with section 90A of the 1991 Act.

97.We would like your views on the role that Public Health England could have 

within the new system in assisting local authorities with their fluoridation 

responsibilities. 

Consultation questions 20- 21:
20. What role should Public Health England play in supporting local authorities 
with their fluoridation functions? 
21. What role (if any) should Public Health England play in supporting local 
authorities to gather data on the effects of fluoridation? 

Page 52



34

Assessment of public opinion

Issues for discussion:
How should public opinion be assessed in the consultation process?   

Background

98.We are clear that the decision-making process for fluoridation will be assisted 

by consultation and that a key element of consultation is the evaluation of 

public opinion. However, the Department could impose specific procedural 

requirements in relation to the manner in which a local authority or a joint 

committee approaches this. 

99.The 2012 Act gives the Secretary of State power to prescribe in regulations the 

steps that a proposing authority or a joint committee must take for the 

purposes of consulting and ascertaining opinion. In addition to the 

requirements at section 88E(2) and 88L(2) of the 1991 Act, discussed above.

We are also considering whether any further requirements are appropriate in 

relation to how a local authority or joint committee should assess public 

opinion.

100. We suggest that there are the following options for guidance or regulations 

on how a local authority or joint committee should assess public opinion:

Option 1 Impose no specific procedural requirements in relation to the 

process for ascertaining public opinion.

Option 2 Require that the local authority or joint committee must canvass 
the views of their resident populations on fluoridation proposals in a manner 
left to the local authorities’ discretion.

Option 3 Specify particular polling mechanisms, for example, public 
meetings and/or focus groups at which votes are taken; an opinion survey or a 
referendum.

101. In our view, option 1 is the most appropriate as it provides flexibility for a 

local authority to decide what is best on a case-by-case basis. We believe that 

local authorities have the experience in conducting consultations to exercise 

discretion in evaluating public opinion. To impose regulatory requirements 

such as those proposed in option 3 could be considered unnecessarily 

prescriptive. We propose therefore that the method by which they ascertain 

public opinion is left to the discretion of local authorities.

Page 53



35

Reaching a decision on whether to proceed with a fluoridation 
proposal

Issues for discussion

! Which factors should a proposing local authority or joint committee take 
into account when considering whether to ask the Secretary of State for 
Health to make fluoridation arrangements, or to vary or terminate an 
existing scheme?   

Background

102. Section 88E(6)(a) of the 1991 Act provides the Secretary of State may by 

regulations make provision as to factors which the proposing local authority or 

decision-making committee must or may take into account when making a final 

decision on whether to proceed with a fluoridation proposal. Section 88L(8)(a) 

provides the same power in respect of decisions on the variation or termination 

of existing fluoridation schemes. 

103. Section 88E(6)(a) of the 1991 Act provides that the Secretary of State may 

by regulations make provision as to factors which the proposing local authority

or decision-making committee must or may take into account when making a 

final decision on whether to proceed with a fluoridation proposal. Section 

88L(8)(a) provides the same power in respect of decisions on the variation or 

termination of existing fluoridation schemes.

104. Under the 2005 Regulations, a Strategic Health Authority shall not proceed 

with any step regarding fluoridation arrangements unless, having regard to the 

extent of support for the proposal and the cogency of the arguments 

advanced, the Authority is satisfied that the health arguments in favour of 

proceeding with the proposal outweigh all arguments against proceeding.45

105. In making the regulations, it is important that the Department does not simply 

seek to replicate existing provisions without further consideration of other 

options and their relevance to the new structure of the health system. 

106. We therefore seek your views on the following proposed options:

45
The Water Fluoridation (Consultation) (England) Regulations 2005, regulation 5.

Consultation question 22-23:
22. Do you agree that the method by which local authorities ascertain 
public opinion on fluoridation proposals be left to their discretion? 
23. If not, what methods of ascertainment would you wish to see imposed 
in regulations?

Page 54



36

Option 1: No prescription in regulations on how local authorities should 

reach a decision.

Option 2: Replicate the requirements in the current regulations.

Option 3: Prescribe different requirements in regulations. For example, 

that a local authority or joint committee when determining whether to proceed 

with a fluoridation proposal should have regard to:

! the views of the local population, and the extent of support for the 

proposal;

! the validity of the arguments advanced, having particular regard to the 

scientific basis of the representations for and against as well as views on 

the ethical arguments about fluoridation;

! whether the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment and the Health and 

Wellbeing Strategy for the affected supply areas support the proposal;

! the financial implications of a fluoridation proposal; and

! whether the health arguments in favour of proceeding with the proposal 

outweigh all arguments against proceeding with the proposal.

Proposal

107. The Department’s preferred approach is option 3. In our view, this option 

better reflects the range of considerations that local government will want to 

take into account and highlights the importance of the relevance of the Joint 

Strategic Needs Assessment and the Health and Wellbeing Strategy to the 

proposal. Option 3 also better reflects the collective decision-making of a 

range of organisations that are within the local area and reflects the need to 

have regard to the views of the local population.

108. It is important that the joint committee or local authority is able to consider 

the validity of the arguments advanced during a consultation, including their 

scientific basis. In the Department’s view, representations which have no 

scientific basis should not carry the same weight as those based on validated 

scientific evidence. It will be critical that the local authority or joint committee 

disseminate the evidence on the effects of fluoridation to the affected 

population. There are also a range of views on the ethics of fluoridation and 

this is a factor that local authorities should consider as well as the evidence on 

its effects.

109. It is equally important that decision-makers have the opportunity to weigh-up

a range of factors before deciding whether to proceed with a proposal.

Ministers have indicated that they wish full account to be taken of public 

opinion in decisions on fluoridation proposals.

Page 55



37

110. The Department does not consider that the local authority or joint committee

should be mandated to base their decisions solely on its consideration of the 

specific numbers of responses for or against the proposal. A simple count is 

unlikely to take into account all relevant factors or fully reflect the range and 

content of the responses to the consultation. Instead, it is suggested that an 

authority or joint committee should take account of the views of the local 

population, the extent to which they are evidence-based and the extent of 

support for the proposal. In the Department’s view, this improves the test in the 

existing regulations by emphasising the need for a critical evaluation of the 

responses to a consultation.

111. In determining the overall health benefits of a scheme, there must be 

evidence that the fluoridation of water will have a positive impact on the 

population’s health and that this benefit outweighs all arguments against 

proceedings. Public Health England will play a key role in providing information 

on the evidence base and local authorities should consider their Joint Strategic 

Needs Assessments and Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategies.

112. The Department considers that it is important that the financial implications 

are a factor that must be considered by the local authority. This factor may be 

important, for example, where a local authority could get better value from 

spending the money on improved oral health education rather than fluoridation. 

113. The paragraphs above have covered the conduct of a consultation exercise 

and the factors that must be taken into account when determining its outcome 

and deciding on the fluoridation proposal. The Department also has to ensure 

that there is an effective mechanism in place for where a number of upper-tier 

local authorities would be affected by a fluoridation proposal. The 2012 Act

already provides for local authorities to arrange for a joint committee to take a

decision on the proposal.

114. The paragraphs below cover our proposals for the procedures to be followed 

by such a committee when making that decision. In particular, in cases where 

there is disagreement amongst the members of the committee and the

decision needs to be put to a vote.  

Consultation question 24:

24. Do you agree that option 3 is the most appropriate option and that existing 

provision should be revised so that, in particular, an authority or committee is 

specifically required to have regard to the views of the local population and to 

the financial implications of the proposal?

Page 56



38

Seeking agreement to fluoridate

115. Section 88F relates to how a committee will reach a decision as to whether 

to proceed with a fluoridation proposal (new or existing) once the consultation 

process has closed.

116. There may be circumstances where the committee might not reach 

consensus through discussion alone, particularly in cases where large 

numbers of local authorities are involved. It is important therefore to establish a 

mechanism for the decision-making committee to make a decision through 

majority voting. Similar to the proposed approach for seeking agreement to 

consult, the Department suggests that a requirement for a majority vote should 

be applied rather than a unanimous decision. 

117. However, it is suggested that the threshold should be higher than a simple 

majority. In most circumstances, one local authority should not be able to veto 

a decision of the majority. Nevertheless, this raises issues of fairness if an

area of one local authority is fluoridated against the wishes of that authority 

due to majority decision-making. Local decision makers will also need to 

consider the wider impact of a decision to fluoridate on their ability to fund 

other public health intervention functions. Paragraph 51 has set out where

section 88F(2) of the 1991 Act requires that a joint committee be established to 

conduct the consultation and make the final decision.  

118. Where there is only one local authority affected (the proposing authority) or 

where other authorities affected do not wish to participate in the process, the 

decision rests with the proposing authority. The Secretary of State has the 

power to make regulations for the procedure to be followed by that authority 

(section 88F(4)(d)). The Department’s view is that local authorities should be 

required to seek the views of their Health and Wellbeing Boards before making 

a decision on fluoridation proposals. The Board would be able to advise on the 

relevance of a fluoridation proposal to other proposals that the local authority 

had for health improvements and on priorities.

119. In addition, paragraphs 121 to 136 set out our proposals to establish two 

processes for voting by joint committees. One process applies where there are 

a small number of affected local authorities and the other where there is a

larger number of local authorities that would be affected. 

120. Section 88E(4) of the 1991 Act gives the Secretary of State for Health

powers to prescribe the circumstances where a proposal may be modified by 

the proposing authority or joint committee to extend the boundary of the area 

in the proposal (i.e. the boundary of the water supply zone in which the water 

Page 57



39

is fluoridated). We do not intend to use this power. Over time, variations may

be required and section 88J of the 2012 Act sets out a mechanism for local 

authorities to consult on a variation of a proposal that has been implemented. 

However, the Department does not feel that a variation to extend an area after 

the consultation has taken place is necessary. The proposal should have been 

developed in sufficient detail to ensure that water supply area is already 

considered and clearly defined in consultation with the water supplier and the 

people living in an affected area have had the opportunity to respond to the 

consultation. 

Seeking agreement to fluoridate (two or three local authorities)

121. Where there are only two or three local authorities affected, it would be

possible to make regulations under section 88F(4)(d) of the 1991 Act to 

provide for a decision on whether to continue with a fluoridation proposal by 

voting.

122. We have considered the following options for local authorities in making 

decisions on fluoridation proposals:

Option 1: No procedure prescribed in regulations. The joint committee 
would determine its own procedure for making the final decision.

Option 2: Prescribe that the joint committee must make a decision by 
majority voting but that the committee is free to determine 
whether a simple majority is sufficient, or whether a larger 
majority would be more appropriate under its own rules of 
procedure. 

Option 3: Prescribe that the joint committee must make a decision by a 
super-majority (two-thirds) where equal numbers of members 
from each local authority have a vote but no other members of 
the committee.

Option 4 Prescribe that the joint committee must make a decision by a 
super-majority (two-thirds) but that local authorities would be free 
to determine their own rules of procedure, including which 
members of the committee would be eligible to vote.

Proposal

123. The Department’s preferred approach is either option 3 or option 4. Options

1 or 2 would give the most discretion to the joint committee at a local level.

However, given that the responsibility for consultation on fluoridation ultimately 

rests with the local authority, option 3 would ensure that the local authorities 

would be in control of the final decision. Nevertheless, if the Department 

Page 58



40

pursued option 3, there would need to be some clear rules around how the 

prescribed majority is to be calculated. We suggest that a super-majority would 

be the most appropriate option as this is well established in existing local 

government legislation. 

124. We suggest that for the purposes of establishing a majority, equal numbers 

of representatives from each local authority would have a vote. It would be 

unfair if one local authority had four votes because they had extra elected 

members on the joint committee when compared to a local authority with just 

the statutory minimum membership.

125. Alternatively, option 4 could provide a wider voting system with 

representatives of Clinical Commissioning Groups having voting rights if that is 

the preferred approach of the joint committee. 

126. With two or three local authorities, it would be possible to prescribe that all of 

the members would have one vote each with a tie resulting in retaining the 

status quo. However, on balance, we do not feel that this approach would be 

fair to the individual local authorities who would be required to fund a 

fluoridation scheme from their public health ring-fenced budgets.

Seeking agreement to fluoridate (four or more local 
authorities)

127. Where there are large numbers of affected local authorities, a voting system 

for the joint committee weighted by the population of each local authority may 

be more appropriate than a simple super-majority approach. As the most 

appropriate method of funding a fluoridation scheme would be by population 

covered, population weighting would relate the means by which agreement on 

a proposal was reached to the contribution to the costs that would be incurred 

by the local authorities. There would then be two points to consider:

! whether all members of the committee should have a vote; and 

! what happens, where there is an even number of local authorities affected,

in the event of a tie. 

Consultation questions 25 to 26 :

25. Do you agree that a decision for two or three local authorities should be 

made by a super-majority?

26. What alternative mechanisms might work better? 

Page 59



41

128. At paragraph 61 - 62, we suggested that our preferred model for four or 

more local authorities would be for the joint committee to consist of an equal 

number of representatives nominated by each authority (or in the case of a 

joint sub-committee of the Health and Wellbeing Boards, by each Board). The 

representative would then put forward that agreed position at the joint 

committee.  

129. Similarly, at paragraph 124, we suggest that when a joint committee cannot 

reach a consensus through discussion equal numbers from each authority or 

Board should be able to cast a vote.

130. We set out the following options for determining the outcome of 

consultations on proposals for a new fluoridation scheme:

Option 1: No prescribed procedure. The joint committee would determine 

its own procedure for making the final decision.

Option 2: Prescribe that the joint committee must make a decision through 
majority voting (with one vote per local authority) but that the 
detailed rules of procedure on what form that majority could take 
would be determined by the committee’s own rules of procedure. 

Option 3: Prescribe a requirement for a super-majority threshold, where 
only one representative from each local authority has a vote. 

Option 4 Prescribe a requirement for population-weighted voting in the 
joint committee with a super-majority threshold for proceeding, 
again where only one representative from each local authority 
has a vote. 

Proposal

131. The Department’s preferred approach is option 2 or option 4. There needs to

be a legislative mechanism to determine how the joint committee decides on 

behalf of a large number of local authorities whether to fluoridate or not as

reaching consensus could be difficult. In addition, there may be circumstances 

where one local authority would be disproportionately affected by a proposal 

compared to others. 

132. For example, if the proposing local authority had identified a need in relation 

to poor oral health and had 90% of the affected population, it could be unfair if 

another local authority that only had a small percentage of the affected 

population vetoed their proposal.

Page 60



42

133. This could equally apply where there are only two or three local authorities. 

However, the decision-making process here would be more straightforward. 

We therefore invite views on whether population-weighted voting should also

apply to proposals where there are only two or three affected local authorities.

134. If, as in paragraph 123 a super-majority based on population-weighted voting

was required, there would only be one vote for each local authority regardless 

of the number of representatives on the decision-making committee. Table 1

below illustrates three example scenarios where the vote is weighted for 

population assuming a two-thirds threshold. In all cases, there are four 

affected local authorities with two local authorities voting “yes” and two voting 

“no”.

135. If the decision was made through non-weighted votes, no account would be 

taken of disparities in the size of the populations in the affected local 

authorities and a fluoridation proposal which commanded widespread support 

would not proceed. However, if votes were weighted according to population

size, as in scenario 1, the local authorities would proceed with a fluoridation 

proposal. The model for population-weighting in Table 1 is not the only 

possible approach. However, this option would allocate votes precisely in 

proportion to the affected population and would be relatively simple to 

administer. It is therefore proposed that, for the purpose of agreeing the 

outcome of a consultation, voting should be weighted by, the population of the 

area of the local authorities that would be affected and not the whole 

population of the local authorities.

136. We invite views on the most appropriate mechanism for making decisions on 

fluoridation proposals where there is no consensus among the affected local 

authorities.

Page 61



43

Table 1: Example scenario of population-weighted voting

Vote and 
Population 

value

Local 
authority 

A

Local 
authority 

B

Local 
authority 

C

Local 
authority 

D
Total

Percentage
Yes

Outcome

Vote Yes No No Yes - - -

Scenario 1 100,000 20,000 100 5,000 125,100 83.94% Proceed
with 

proposal

Scenario 2 4,000 4,000 4,000 5,000 16,000 56.00% Proceed 
with 

proposal

Scenario 3 2,000 100,000 2,000 2,000 106,000 3.77% Do not
Proceed

with 
proposal

Consultation questions 27-32:
27. Do you agree that there should be a different voting mechanism for a joint 
committee of four or more affected local authorities?
28. Should population-weighted voting be prescribed?
29. What other factors should be considered?
30. Do you agree with the proposed model of population weighting and the 
approach to calculating the affected population? 
31. How easy will it be to determine an accurate population number?
32. Should population-weighted voting also apply to proposals where there are 
only two or three affected local authorities?

Page 62



44

Variation, termination and maintenance of 
fluoridation arrangements

Cross Reference to relevant sections of the Water Industry Act 1991 inserted by 

the 2012 Act:

Section 88I – Variation or termination of arrangements under section 87(1)

Section 88K – Additional requirements where other local authorities affected

Section 88L– Decisions on variation or termination proposal 

Section 88M – Decision-making procedure: exercise of functions by committee

Section 88N – Maintenance of section 87 arrangements

Introduction

137. In addition to the provisions on making new arrangements for a fluoridation 

scheme, section 36 of the 2012 Act inserts provisions to allow schemes to be 

varied, maintained or terminated (see sections 88I to 88N of the 1991 Act).

138. Local authorities will need to consult not only on proposals for fluoridation 

schemes but also on proposals to vary or terminate an existing scheme. A

variation might arise where the water undertaker needs to carry out long term 

changes to the engineering for the water supply zone. (i.e. those which are not 

temporary changes for operational purposes). This could result in changes in 

the area receiving fluoridation water. Alternatively, a local authority might wish

to extend the boundary of a water supply zone to fluoridate a new wider area.  

139. As we have indicated above, we intend that the questions we have raised on 

consultations and decision making on proposals for new fluoridation schemes 

should also apply to proposals for variations or terminations of existing 

fluoridation schemes. The issues discussed below refer specifically to varying, 

maintaining and terminating existing fluoridation schemes.

140. Notably, the 2005 Regulations prescribe that maintaining an existing 

fluoridation scheme requires consultation if it involves the replacement or 

upgrading of the fluoridation plant, other than for the purpose of meeting 

operational or health and safety standards.46 In practice, a Strategic Health 

Authority would decide to take such a step on the advice of the water 

undertaker. 

141. The Department’s view is that the consultation and procedural requirements 

for varying, maintaining or terminating a scheme should be the same as for 

46
The Water Fluoridation (Consultation) (England) Regulations 2005, regulation 4(2).

Page 63



45

initiating a proposal, unless exemptions apply (see paragraphs 145-151). As a 

consequence, the proposals set out above for consultations and decision 

making on proposals for new fluoridation schemes would apply to the 

maintenance, variation or termination of existing schemes unless exempted by 

regulations. 

142. The Secretary of State for Health has the power to prescribe the 

circumstances where he can request that a water undertaker vary fluoridation 

arrangements, without a variation proposal under section 88I(4) of the 1991 

Act. The Secretary of State for Health also has powers to specify that in certain 

circumstances a proposer can proceed without the full consultation processes 

for arrangements with other local authorities, joint committees and consultation 

that would otherwise apply (see section 88K, 88L and 88M).

143. In addition, the Secretary of State for Health may make regulations as to the 

maintenance of schemes, including for consulting and ascertaining opinion on 

whether arrangements should be maintained and for enabling authorities

affected to decide whether to propose to the Secretary of State that they be 

maintained (see section 88O(1) of the 1991 Act).

144. The arrangements for variation, termination and maintenance will apply to 

both existing and new schemes on or after 1 April 2013. This is the intended 

date for commencement of the new system. Thus, existing schemes will 

generally need to be varied or terminated by local authorities even if they were 

originally established by Strategic Health Authorities.

Circumstances where the Secretary of State may vary or 
terminate arrangements without a request from a local authority

145. Under normal circumstances, the Secretary of State for Health may not 

request variation of fluoridation arrangements or require a water undertaker to 

terminate such arrangements unless a proposal has been made by one or 

more affected local authorities (see section 88I(1) and(2) of the 1991 Act).

However, section 88I(4) and (5) give the Secretary of State of Health power to 

prescribe the circumstances where he can vary or terminate a contract without

such a proposal. The Secretary of State could use these powers in 

collaboration with the Secretary of State for the Environment Food and Rural 

Affairs as a fail-safe option to be used to preserve the safety of the water. 

Page 64



46

146. We are considering the following options:

Option 1: The Secretary of State of Health has no powers to vary or 

terminate a contract without receiving a proposal from a local 

authority. 

Option 2: The Secretary of State of Health has power to terminate or vary a

contract without a local authority proposal where a general risk to 

health is identified from fluoridation or a specific risk emerges 

due to actions of a particular water undertaker.

Proposal

147. In the Department’s view, option 2 provides an appropriate balance between 

local authority autonomy and the Secretary of State for Health’s over-arching 

responsibility for public health. It is important to note that the Secretary of State

for Health would have powers to terminate a contract in contrast to those of the 

Secretary of State for Environment Food and Rural Affairs. Through the Chief 

Inspector of Water, (DWI), Secretary of State for Environment Food and Rural 

Affairs may if necessary stop, for instance, fluoridation of a water supply or the 

supply itself where there is identified a significant risk of a potential danger to 

health and until such time that appropriate remedial action is taken to secure 

compliance.

148. In our view, the Secretary of State for Health would only wish to mandate 

local authorities in exceptional circumstances, but the Department considers 

that a fail-safe option is needed to ensure the Secretary of State is able to 

protect the health of the population in such circumstances. For example, if a

risk to general health was identified from fluoridation (not yet identified), the 

Secretary of State would have the power to terminate fluoridation without 

delay. 

Consultation question 33:

33. Do you agree that the Secretary of State of Health should have regulatory 

powers to vary or terminate a contract without a local authority proposal 

where a risk to general health is identified from fluoridation or a specific local 

risk emerges?    

Page 65



47

Variation of arrangements

149. The Secretary of State may prescribe circumstances where the duty of the 

proposer to comply with prescribed requirements as to the steps to be taken 

for consultation on a variation proposal does not apply (see section 88L(4)).

The Secretary of State for Health also has the power to make regulations that 

the local authorities’ duty to arrange for an existing joint committee, or appoint 

a joint committee or Health and Wellbeing Board, to exercise the relevant

functions does not apply.

150. Many variations are likely to be minor and technical and so may not require 

consultation. Under the 2005 Regulations, it is the more significant variations 

that require consultation. These Regulations state that consultation is required 

on a proposal to vary fluoridation arrangements where:

! the variation concerns the boundary of the area to which the arrangements 

relate (i.e. the boundary of the water supply zone which the water company 

is contracted to fluoridate may vary for operational reasons); and

! the number of houses that would be affected by the variation, either by 

being brought within the area or by being excluded from it, exceeds 20% of 

the number of houses within the area at the time the request is made47.

151. We are considering the following options in relation to varying 

arrangements:

Option 1: No prescription in regulations: local authorities would have to consult 
on all variation proposals.

Option 2: Prescribe in regulations that the consultation process is only required 
for significant variations and is not required for minor changes for a 
variation proposal, for example if:

(a) it does not concern the boundary of an area to which 
arrangements relate; or

(b) it does concern the boundary of an area, but the number of 
houses that would be affected by the variation, either by being 
brought within the area or by being excluded from it, is fewer 
than 20% of the number of houses within the area at the time 

47
The Water Fluoridation (Consultation) (England) Regulations 2005, regulation 4(1).

Page 66



48

the request is made and this variation occurs within the 
proposing local authority.

(N:B in circumstances where more than one local authority is
affected by the variation, we intend to issue guidance to the 
effect that the proposing local authority should notify and seek 
agreement from any other affected local authorities. This 
process would not be a statutory process.)

Option 3: Prescribe other set of circumstances where a variation does not require 
consultation.

Proposal

152. We suggest replicating the current position as closely as possible (option 2). 

Minor variations in the boundary should not need a formal consultation and 

joint committee process and the current flexibilities within the system should be 

maintained. This option strikes the balance of avoiding consultation exercises 

for minor variations whilst still ensuring that significant changes in the 

boundaries of fluoridation schemes are subject to public consultation.

153. In addition, section 88K(5) gives the Secretary of State for Health the power 

to dis-apply the duty of a proposer to enable the authorities affected by a

proposal to vary a fluoridation scheme to decide whether further steps should 

be taken on the proposal. These powers provide flexibility to the process but 

we have not identified a specific situation where we would need to use these 

powers. We seek your views on any specific circumstances where you 

consider that it might be useful to use these powers.

Maintenance of existing arrangements

154. The Secretary of State may make regulations under section 88O(1) to 

specify the circumstances in which local authorities must consult and ascertain 

opinion on whether arrangements should be maintained and, whether to 

propose to the Secretary of State that existing arrangements be maintained. 

Consultation questions 34-36:
34. Do you agree that, as with the current provisions, consultations should not 
be required for minor variation of schemes?
35. If not, in what cases should consultation be required?  
36. Does the power in section 88K(5) whereby the Secretary of State of health 
can dis-apply the duty of a proposer local authority to enable the authorities 
affected by a  proposal to vary a fluoridation scheme to decide whether 
further steps should be taken on  the proposal need to be exercised?

Page 67



49

155. If the Secretary of State prescribes such circumstances, the regulations must 

also require the Secretary of State to give notice to the water undertaker to 

terminate the arrangements, if the authorities affected decide that the 

arrangements should not be maintained and the Secretary of State is satisfied 

that any related requirements imposed by regulations have been met (see 

section 88O(2)).

156. The 2005 Regulations state that consultation is required for maintaining 

fluoridation arrangements if it involves the upgrading or replacement of 

fluoridation plant, otherwise than for the purpose of meeting operational or 

health and safety standards.48

157. The Department is considering the following options for regulations under 

the 1991 Act:

Option 1: No prescription. There would not be any cases in which local 

authorities would be required to consult on maintaining a 

fluoridation scheme. Consultation would only be required if a 

local authority proposed variation or termination of the scheme.

Option 2: In addition to option 1, replicate the existing provision: the 2005 

Regulations state that consultation is required for maintaining 

fluoridation arrangements if it involves the upgrading or 

replacement of fluoridation plant other than for the purpose of 

meeting operational and health and safety standards.

Option 3: Impose a requirement to consult on the continued operation of 

fluoridation schemes at specific intervals. For example, the 

requirement could be imposed every twenty years and/or for a 

maintenance consultation if oral health had substantially 

improved. 

Option 4: Impose conditions relating to the cost of replacing or upgrading 

the plant. That is, a consultation must take place where these 

costs exceed a certain cost threshold based on an options 

appraisal.  

Proposal

158. We invite views on the best approach to take with regard to the maintenance 

of existing arrangements. There will need to be a balance between being 

48
The Water Fluoridation (Consultation) (England) Regulations 2005, regulation 4(2).

Page 68



50

overly burdensome on administrators and allowing local communities to have a 

say in the continuation of water fluoridation schemes. 

159. In the Department’s view any procedural arrangements including the joint 

committee process and consultation requirements proposed earlier in this 

document for initiating a scheme would be required here. It is therefore 

proposed that the circumstances in which consultation should be required 

should replicate the requirements of the current regulations.

160. In addition, it is the Department’s view that any proposed regulations should 

provide that the process for a proposal under option 2 should replicate the 

provisions for a variation of a scheme.  The regulations would therefore require 

affected local authorities to establish a joint committee to conduct the 

consultation and make the final decision on whether to maintain or request the

Secretary of State to terminate the arrangements. The requirements for

consultation and the factors to consider in deciding whether to maintain or 

request termination, would be the same as those for proposals to establish or 

vary a fluoridation scheme.

161. The Department’s initial view is that option 3 could disrupt fluoridation 

schemes that are functioning well and are popular locally. This could produce

a destabilising effect on the provision of dental public health services. Local 

authorities would have the ability to consult on terminating a contract under 

section 88I of the 1991 Act if they considered this an appropriate step. At this 

stage, it is not considered necessary to require a local authority to consult on 

the continued operation of a scheme at specified intervals but we invite your 

views on this matter.

Termination of fluoridation schemes (process)

162. Paragraph 147 outlines the circumstances when the Secretary of State for 

Health may require a water undertaker to terminate a contract for a fluoridation 

Consultation question 37-39:

37. What are your views on the benefits of consultation in relation to the 

maintenance of existing arrangements?

38. Should the regulations prescribe a process for requiring local authorities 

to consult and decide on whether to maintain or request termination of a 

fluoridation scheme, and

39. If so, what should the procedural requirements be in such cases eg should 

time intervals be set at which the continuation of the scheme should be 

reviewed as suggested at paragraph 157?

Page 69



51

scheme without a proposal from one or more local authorities. The Department 

intends to use these regulations as a fail-safe option. 

163. In addition, the Secretary of State may, by regulations, provide 

circumstances where the duty does not apply for the proposer to make 

arrangements to enable affected authorities to decide whether further steps 

(including consultation) should be taken for a termination proposal (see section 

88K(5)).

164. The Secretary of State may also prescribe circumstances where the duty of 

the proposer to comply with prescribed requirements about the steps to be 

taken for consultation on a termination proposal does not apply (see section 

88L(4) and 88M(5)). We do not intend to exercise these powers. Given that the 

Secretary of State will hold the contracts and have the relationship with the 

water company, the Secretary of State will be able to react more quickly to any 

health protection issues where termination is required. We do not believe that 

a local authority should be able to vary or terminate a contract unilaterally and 

without consultation. 

165. Under section 88L(8) and 88M(6), the Secretary of State has powers to 

prescribe the membership of a joint committee to conduct the consultation and 

final decision-making process in relation to a termination proposal, and a 

power to prescribe the procedure to be followed by such a committee. We 

suggest that these requirements should be the same as the requirements 

needed for a proposal for a new fluoridation scheme. This ensures consistency 

of standards for the approach to a fluoridation proposal. We believe that a

proposal to terminate a contract is as significant as a new proposal to 

fluoridate and could be equally controversial. We feel that it is important for 

local areas to have the option to propose a termination proposal and agree 

that the arrangements for final decisions, including voting procedures, should 

be the same as for new proposals. 

166. We propose that a local authority or the joint committee need to take into 

account the same factors when deciding on terminations as they do for new 

proposals. However, it may be necessary to slightly alter the decision-making 

criteria outlined in paragraph 106 to ensure that they are still applicable for a 

termination scheme. For example, it may be difficult to terminate a contract if a

condition is that the demonstrable health arguments in favour of proceeding 

with the termination outweigh the arguments against proceeding. For a 

termination proposal, we suggest that the criteria may need to be reversed so 

that local authorities must consider whether the benefits in favour of 

terminating a contract for a scheme outweigh the health arguments in favour of 

maintaining the scheme.

Page 70



52

Termination of contracts for fluoridation schemes (Timescales)

167. The Secretary of State may make regulations to provide that, where a 

termination proposal is made, no further termination proposal can be made

until the end of such a period specified in the regulations (see section 88I(6) of 

the 1991 Act). In effect, the regulations would allow the Secretary of State to 

specify the intervals at which local authorities would be required to undertake

consultations on the termination of existing fluoridation schemes.

168. As both the conduct of a consultation and the installation of a fluoridation 

scheme would be costly, we believe that a group of local authorities should not 

be expected to undertake consultation on terminating the contract for the 

fluoridation scheme at unreasonably short intervals. Such practical 

considerations would need to be balanced with the need to allow local 

authorities, and their democratically elected leaders, to make decisions on oral 

health promotion and capital investment.  

Option 1: No prescription in regulations.

Option 2: Prescribe in regulations that there should be a minimum (and 

maximum) term between the conduct of a consultation to terminate a contract 

for a fluoridation scheme.

Option 3: Prescribe in regulations other criteria to ensure that local 

authorities and joint committees have to carry out consultations at reasonable 

time intervals.

Proposal

169. The Department favours the prescription of minimum intervals between 

termination consultations. However, we welcome views on what a minimum 

interval should be.

Consultation questions 40-41:

40. Do you agree that the procedural approach for a consultation proposal on

terminating a contract for a fluoridation scheme should mirror the approach 

for a new proposal. 

41. Are there any additional requirements that local authorities should be 

required to take or factors that they should consider? 

Page 71



53

Consultation questions 42-43:

42. What are your views on the benefits of imposing a minimum interval 

between termination consultation proposals? 

43. If so, what interval do you suggest would be appropriate?  

Page 72



54

Consultation Questions (Summary)

1. Do you agree with our proposals for the arrangements to enable a joint decision 

to proceed with a proposal? 

2. Do you agree that a decision to proceed with fluoridation should be made on a 

super-majority basis? 

3. Are there any other approaches that you believe could work better?

4. Do you agree that:  the membership of the committee established to progress a 

proposal on fluoridation should be prescribed in regulations

5. Do you agree that we do not need to make regulations in relation to holding and 

vacating office? 

6. Do you agree that regulation in relation to minimum and maximum membership 

would be too prescriptive?  

7. Do you agree that there should be an alternative approach in the regulations 

when there are a large number of affected local authorities?  

8. If so, would this be adopted when there are four or more local authorities? 

9. Do you agree a joint committee of Health and Wellbeing Boards might be an 

efficient approach?

10.Do you agree that the existing requirements for conducting consultations at 

option 2 remain appropriate; or are there any further steps in relation to 

consultations that you feel a local authority or the joint committee should take? 

11.Should there be any other further changes to the proposed consultation 

requirements?

12.Are there any requirements that you would like to suggest that we include in 

regulations to minimise or remove any potential adverse impacts or 

disadvantages for groups with a “protected characteristic” as set out under the 

Equality Act? 

13.Do you agree that children and young families in deprived areas be encouraged 

to participate in consultations on proposals for new fluoridation schemes 

14.Will this contribute to implementation of the duty on the Secretary of State to

have regard to the need to reduce health inequalities between people with 

respect to the benefits they can obtain from the health service?

15.Do you agree that the new duty which is due to be imposed on the Secretary of 

State  to have regard to the need to reduce inequality- whatever its cause - is 

relevant to proposals to introduce fluoridation schemes?

16.Do you have any information 

! on the cost benefits of fluoridation schemes and/or

! the costs a local authority would incur in conducting a consultation?

17.Do you agree that: no specific requirements are needed on consultation material
or other information provided to the public (other than those specified in public 
law and in paragraphs 74 – 76)?

18.Do you agree that the proposing local authority or joint committee should
nevertheless be required to obtain advice from the director(s) of public health?

Page 73



55

19.If no, what requirements do you think should be imposed?
20.What role should Public Health England play in supporting local authorities with 

their fluoridation functions?   
21.What role (if any) should Public Health England play in supporting local 

authorities to gather equality data?
22.Do you agree that the method by which local authorities ascertain public opinion 

on fluoridation proposals be left to their discretion? 
23. If not, what methods of ascertainment would you wish to see imposed in 

regulations?
24.Do you agree that option 3 is the most appropriate option and that existing 

provision should be revised so that, in particular, an authority or committee is 
specifically required to have regard to the views of the local population and to the 
financial implications of the proposal?

25.Do you agree that a decision for two or three local authorities should be made by 
a super-majority? 

26.What alternative mechanisms might work better?
27.Do you agree that there should be a different voting mechanism for a joint 

committee of four or more affected local authorities? 
28.Should population-weighted voting be prescribed?
29. What other factors should be considered? 
30.Do you agree with the proposed model of population weighting and the approach 

to calculating the affected population? 
31.How easy will it be to determine an accurate population number?
32.Should population-weighted voting also apply to proposals where there are only 

two or three affected local authorities?
33.Do you agree that the Secretary of State should have regulatory powers to vary 

or terminate a fluoridation scheme without a local authority proposal where a 
general risk to health is identified from fluoridation or a specific local risk 
emerges?

34.Do you agree that, as with the current provisions, consultation should not be 
required for minor variation of schemes ,

35. If not, in what cases should consultation be required?  
36.Does the power in section 88K(5) whereby the Secretary of State can dis-apply 

the duty of a proposer local authority to enable the authorities affected by a  
proposal to terminate a fluoridation scheme to decide whether further steps 
should be taken on  the proposal need to be exercised?

37.What are your views on the benefits of consultation in relation to the maintenance 
of existing arrangements?

38.Should the regulations prescribe a process for requiring local authorities to 
consult and decide on whether to maintain or request a termination of a 
fluoridation scheme?

39.If so, what should the procedural requirements be in such cases eg should time 
intervals be set at which the continuation of the scheme should be reviewed as 
suggested at paragraph 157?

40.Do you agree that the procedural approach for a consultation proposal on
terminating a contract for a fluoridation scheme should mirror the approach for a 
new proposal? 

41.Are there any additional requirements that local authorities should be required to 
consider? 

Page 74



56

42.What are your views on the benefits of imposing minimum interval between
consultations on the termination of existing fluoridation schemes?

43.If so, what interval do you suggest would be appropriate?  

Page 75



57

Comments on the consultation process itself

If you have concerns or comments which you would like to make relating specifically 

to the consultation process itself then please send your comments to the following

addresses:

contact Consultations Co-ordinator

Department of Health

3E48, Quarry House

Leeds

LS2 7UE

OR

e-mail consultations.co-ordinator@dh.gsi.gov.uk

Please do not send consultation responses to this address.

Page 76



58

Confidentiality of information

We manage the information you provide in response to this consultation in 

accordance with the Department of Health's Information Charter.

Information we receive, including personal information, may be published or 

disclosed in accordance with the access to information regimes (primarily the 

Freedom of Information Act 2000, the Data Protection Act 1998 and the 

Environmental Information Regulations 2004).

If you want the information that you provide to be treated as confidential, please be 

aware that, under the Freedom of Information Act, there is a statutory Code of 

Practice that public authorities must comply with and which deals with obligations of 

confidence. In view of this, it would be helpful if you could explain to us why you

regard the information you have provided as confidential. If we receive a request for 

disclosure of the information we will take full account of your explanation, but we 

cannot give an assurance that confidentiality can be maintained in all circumstances.

An automatic confidentiality disclaimer generated by your IT system will not, of itself, 

be regarded as binding on the Department.

The Department will process your personal data in accordance with the Data 

Protection Act and, in most circumstances; this will mean that your personal data will 

not be disclosed to third parties.

Summary of the consultation response

A summary of the response to this consultation will be made available before or 

alongside any further action, such as laying legislation before Parliament, and it will 

be placed on the Consultations website at:

http://www.dh.gov.uk/en/Consultations/Responsestoconsultations/index.htm

Page 77



59

Glossary

Commissioning – the process of assessing the needs of a local population and 

putting in place services to meet those needs.

Devolved Administrations – refers generally to the governments of Scotland (the 

Scottish Government), Wales (the Welsh Ministers) and Northern Ireland (the 

Northern Ireland Ministers).

Directors of Public Health (DsPH) – currently a role within NHS Primary Care 

Trusts, moving to local authorities under the Health and Social Care Act 2012; the 

lead public health professionals who focus on protecting and improving the health of 

the local population.  Under the 2012 Act they would be responsible for the 

performance of their local authority’s public health functions.

Drinking Water Inspectorate (DWI) – Acting as Secretary of State for the 

Environment Food and Rural Affairs in the assessment and enforcement of water 

quality.

Health and Social Care Act 2012 – proposals for a Health Bill were included in the 

Queen’s Speech for the first Parliamentary session of the Coalition Government. The 

Health and Social Care Act 2012 contains the legislative changes required to

implement the proposals set out in this document. 

Health and Wellbeing Boards – are a forum for local commissioners across the 

NHS, public health and social care, elected representatives and representative of 

Healthwatch to discuss how to better the health and wellbeing outcomes for the 

people in their area.

Healthwatch – will be the new consumer champion for health and social care. It will 

exist in two distinct forms. At a local level, there will be ‘Local Healthwatch’ and a 

national level, Healthwatch England. 

Joint Strategic Needs Assessments (JSNAs) – are assessments of current and 

future health and social care needs in relation to an area, which fall to Clinical 

Commissioning Groups and local authorities and must be carried out by Health and 

Wellbeing Boards in accordance with section 116 of the Local Government and 

Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 as amended by the Health and Social Care 

Act 2012. Based on JSNAs, Health and Wellbeing Boards will develop Joint Health 

and Wellbeing Strategies (JHWS) which will underpin commissioning of health and 

social care and possibly inform commissioning of health-related services. The JSNA 

and JHWS process provides the local evidence base for services unique to the area.

Page 78



60

Local authorities – see Local government, below.

Local government – refers collectively to administrative authorities for local areas 

within England, with different arrangements in different areas, including: 

! two-tier authorities: several district councils (‘lower-tier’, responsible for, for 

example, council housing, leisure services, recycling, etc.) overlap with a 

single county council (‘upper-tier’, responsible for, for example, schools, 

social services and public transport); 

! unitary: a single layer of administration responsible for local public 

services, including: metropolitan district councils; boroughs; and city,

county or district councils; 

! town and parish councils: cover a smaller area than district councils and 

are responsible for, for example, allotments, public toilets, parks and 

ponds, war memorials, local halls and community centres; and 

! shared services: where it is considered appropriate, local government may 

share services across areas greater than individual administrative bodies, 

for example, for policing, fire services and public transport.

HealthWatch - HealthWatch England will be a national consumer champion that 

enables the collective views of the people who use health and social care services to 

influence national policy, advice and guidance.

Population weighting –through population weighting the local authorities with the 

largest population effected would have most votes in reaching decisions on 

fluoridation proposals 

Primary Care Trust (PCT) – the NHS body currently responsible for commissioning 

most healthcare services – and, in some cases, providing community-based 

services, such as district nursing, for a local area. The Health and Social Care Act 

2012 will abolish these bodies on 1 April 2013. 

Provider – an organisation that provides services directly to patients, including 

hospitals, mental health services and ambulance services.

Public Health England (PHE) – A new integrated public health service that will be 

set up as an executive agency of the Department of Health, including the current 

functions exercised by the National Treatment Agency and the Health Protection 

Agency. PHE will exercise public health functions conferred on the Secretary of 

State by the Health and Social Care Act 2012 and will be operational on 1 April 

2013.

Page 79



61

Strategic Health Authority (SHA) – the NHS body currently responsible for 

developing strategies for local health services and ensuring high-quality performance 

at a regional level. They oversee the NHS locally and are a key link between the 

Department of Health and the NHS. The Health and Social Care Act 2012 will 

abolish these bodies on 1 April 2013.  

Unitary authority – see Local government, above.

Upper-tier authority – see Local government, above.

Water undertaker – a company that undertakes to supply water (and in some 

instances a sewerage system). 

Water Industries Act 1991 – sections 87 – 91 of the Act, as amended by sections 

35 to 37 of the Health and Social Care Act 2012, contain the primary legislation on 

fluoridation.

Page 80



62

ANNEX A: Overview of the Health and Social Care 
Act 2012 provisions

As explained in paragraphs 17 – 20, the Health and Social Care Act 2012 (‘the 2012 

Act’) transfers responsibility for proposing fluoridation schemes and conducting 

consultations on such schemes from Strategic Health Authorities to local authorities.

The new sections set out the consultation process on proposals for fluoridation 

schemes but also contain regulation-making powers for the Secretary of State.

Sections 35 to 37 are the relevant sections of the 2012 Act that amend parts of the 

Water Industry Act 199149 (’the 1991 Act’). In broad terms, these sections amend 

the 1991 Act so that the Secretary of State may enter fluoridation arrangements with 

water undertakers in prescribed circumstances and the consultation processes with 

local authorities who also may make fluoridation proposals. New section 88H deals 

with payments by local authorities towards fluoridation costs and new sections 88I to 

88O deal with the procedure for varying, terminating and maintaining fluoridation

schemes.

The new sections are described below followed by an overview of each area dealt 

with in this consultation process.

Section 88B allows a fluoridation proposal to be made by one or more local 

authorities in England. A fluoridation proposal is a proposal on which the Secretary 

of State enters into arrangements with one or more water undertakers to increase 

the fluoride content of the water supplied by the undertaker or undertakers to a 

specific area. Whilst local authorities will undertake consultations on fluoridation 

schemes, the Secretary of State will manage the contracts with water undertakers 

which put them into effect. (In practice, it is anticipated that Public Health England 

will undertake this function of the Secretary of State.) Subsection (4) allows for local 

authorities to propose fluoridation for their own population, or a larger population

which includes some or all of their area.

Section 88C applies if a fluoridation proposal is made. The proposer must consult 

with the Secretary of State and the water undertaker as to whether the proposal 

would be operable and efficient. The proposer must inform the Secretary of State of 

the opinion of the water undertaker. Only if the Secretary of State is of the opinion 

that the proposals are operable and efficient can the proposals proceed.

Section 88D provides that once the Secretary of State for Health has agreed that 

the proposal is operable and efficient and the proposer wishes to take further steps 

in relation to the proposal, the proposer must notify all other local authorities affected 

49
See http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1991/56/contents

Page 81



63

by the proposal and make arrangements for the authorities to decide how to 

proceed. Subsection (4) requires the Secretary of State for Health to make 

regulations on the details of how these decisions should be reached by the local 

authorities concerned.

Section 88E provides that where the proposer decides to proceed with the proposal, 

it must comply with any requirements provided for in regulations made by the 

Secretary of State as to the steps to be taken for consultation and ascertaining 

opinion. The proposer may then decide to modify the proposal (only within the water 

supply zone of the relevant area, or in certain circumstances, to add another area. 

The proposer must then decide whether to request the Secretary of State to make 

such necessary requests to implement the proposal. Subsection (6) empowers the 

Secretary of State for Health to make regulations specifying the factors which the 

proposer must consider in deciding whether to proceed and the procedure to be

followed in reaching that decision or in consulting and ascertaining opinion for the 

proposal.

Section 88F requires that, unless either the proposal affects only a single local 

authority or it affects more than one authority, but the other authorities do not wish to 

participate in the decision, the affected local authorities must exercise functions 

under section 88E either through an existing joint committee, a new joint committee 

or a joint subcommittee of health and wellbeing boards. Subsection (4) empowers 

the Secretary of State to make regulations on the composition and procedures of 

these joint committees or joint sub-committees.

Section 88G places a duty on the Secretary of State for Health to implement a 

fluoridation proposal by entering into arrangements with a water undertaker.  The 

2012 Act ensures that the Secretary of State has initially satisfied himself that a 

scheme is operable and efficient (see section 88C of the 1991 Act). In addition, 

subsection (2) of section 88G requires that the Secretary of State be satisfied that 

the requirements imposed by sections 88B to 88F of the 1991 Act have been met. 

This does not require the Secretary of State to consider the adequacy of any steps 

taken for the purposes of complying with any requirement to consult or to ascertain 

opinion.

Section 88H provides a mechanism under which local authorities can be made to 

bear the full cost of fluoridation. Under subsection (2), the Secretary of State for 

Health can require the local authorities affected by arrangements made by the 

Secretary of State for the fluoridation of water with a water undertaker to meet the 

Secretary of State’s costs incurred under the terms of the arrangement. Subsection 

(4) provides for the Secretary of State to determine what amounts are payable by 

each authority in the absence of an agreement between the local authorities (or by a 

joint committee of the local authorities or joint sub-committee of health and wellbeing 

Page 82



64

boards), with a power to appoint an independent person to arbitrate if he wishes. 

Subsections (5) and (6) provide for requests for variations in the amounts agreed, 

once a fluoridation scheme is set up, to be treated in the same way.

Sections 88I to 88N relate to the variation or termination of arrangements for the 

fluoridation of water. They largely replicate the provisions concerning new 

fluoridation proposals in sections 88B to 88G. The Secretary of State for Health is 

able to vary or terminate arrangements without a proposal from a local authority, in 

certain limited cases. Section 88I(4) provides for regulations to be made prescribing 

the cases where the Secretary of State can vary or terminate arrangements without 

a local authority making a proposal.

Section 88O contains a regulation-making power in relation to consultation or 

ascertaining opinion on the maintenance of existing fluoridation arrangements. The 

power also covers the procedures to be followed in relation to a proposal to maintain 

arrangements. The regulations must make provision requiring the Secretary of State

of Health to give notice to the water undertaker under section 87C(7) of the 1991 Act 

if the local authorities do not want to maintain fluoridation arrangements and the 

Secretary of State is satisfied that any requirements imposed by regulations have 

been met.

Overview of Health and Social Care Act 2012 provisions: initial participation in 

decision- making (sections 88C, 88D, 88J and 88K)

The 2012 Act sets out a number of initial steps that a local authority making a 

fluoridation proposal (“the proposer”) must take, including consulting with relevant 

water undertakers and the Secretary of State to ensure a proposed scheme is 

operable and efficient. (In practice, we expect this function to be undertaken by 

Public Health England.)  Once this initial preparatory work has been completed, the 

proposing local authority must notify any other local authority affected by the 

proposal. A local authority is affected if its area, or any part of it, is within the 

proposed area of the fluoridation scheme. The proposer must then make 

arrangements for enabling the affected local authorities to decide whether further 

steps should be taken.

The 2012 Act requires a similar initial process for proposals to vary or terminate a 

fluoridation scheme. As set out in paragraph 145 - 151 of this document, there are 

powers to make regulations to specify when the procedural requirements described 

below do not apply.

In a case where the proposed area for fluoridation falls within the area of a single 

local authority, the authority may proceed to consult without going through the joint 

Page 83



65

decision making process discussed below.  In practice, we think such cases are 

unlikely. 

Overview of the Health and Social Care Act 2012 provisions: committee 

membership and procedures (sections 88F and 88M)

The 2012 Act requires that, subject to some exceptions, local authorities must use a 

joint committee to carry out the consultation and make final decisions in relation a 

fluoridation proposal. The 2012 Act provides that local authorities who are affected 

by a fluoridation proposal must use an existing joint committee or set up a new joint

committee or arrange for their Health and Wellbeing Boards to set up a joint sub-

committee. The only circumstances where this requirement does not apply is where 

there is only one local authority (the proposer) or where all the other affected local 

authorities have opted-out of the decision-making.

Section 88F of the 1991 Act enables the Secretary of State to make regulations on 

the following matters:

! any conditions as to the membership of any existing committee, if that 

committee is to perform the functions of consulting and deciding on 

fluoridation proposals;

! the membership of any new joint committee established to perform this role;

! the membership of a joint sub-committee of Health and Wellbeing Boards 

established to perform this role; and

! the procedure to be followed by any joint committee or any joint sub-

committee of the Health and Wellbeing Boards.

In relation to Health and Wellbeing Boards, the 2012 Act provides that as an 

alternative to establishing a new joint committee or using an existing one, the local 

authorities may arrange for their Health and Wellbeing Boards to perform the 

functions of consulting and deciding on the fluoridation proposal. The Boards can 

then exercise their powers under section 198 of the 2012 Act to establish a joint sub-

committee to perform these functions.  

Overview of Health and Social Care Act 2012 provisions: fluoridation decision-

making (section 88E and 88L)

Once the affected local authorities have decided that they wish to proceed with a 

proposal for a new scheme or a proposal to vary/terminate, they would need to 

consult and ascertain opinion in relation to the proposal, in accordance with 

requirements set out in regulations made by the Secretary of State.  However, in the 

case of a proposal to vary or terminate, there are exceptions to the requirement to 

consult (see paragraph 145 - 151).

Page 84



66

The Secretary of State also has powers to make regulations specifying the factors 

which local authorities must consider in deciding whether to proceed with a proposal 

and the procedure to be followed in carrying out the consultation, ascertaining the 

views of the local population and making a decision. Section 88E of the 1991 Act 

gives the Secretary of State powers to: 

! prescribe the steps that local authorities should take for the purposes of 

consulting and ascertaining opinion in relation to the proposal; the process 

that local authorities should follow when carrying out a consultation exercise;

! prescribe the procedures to be followed in relation to the consultation process

and post-consultation decision-making; and

! prescribe factors which the proposer must or may take into account in making 

a decision on proceeding with a fluoridation proposal.   

Regulations are currently in place to prescribe the consultation procedure for 

Strategic Health Authorities. The Water Fluoridation (Consultation) (England) 

Regulations 200550 will be replaced by new regulations made under the powers in 

section 88E(2) and (6) of the 1991 Act).

In cases where there is one or more local authorities affected by the proposal, other 

than the proposing authority, and one or more of those authorities wishes to 

participate in the consultation and decision making process, then the authorities 

must establish a joint committee to conduct the consultation. This joint committee will 

also make the final decision on whether to request the Secretary of State to make 

the fluoridation arrangements.  This process is described in Chapter 5.  

Overview of Health and Social Care Act 2012 provisions: variation, termination 

and maintenance of arrangements (sections 88I to 88O).

In addition to the provisions on making new arrangements for a fluoridation scheme, 

schemes can be varied, terminated and maintained (see sections 88I to 88O

inserted under section 36 of the 2012 Act) Local authorities will therefore need to 

consult not only on proposals for fluoridation schemes but also on proposals to vary 

or terminate an existing scheme. This may arise, for example, where the water 

undertaker has to carry out changes to the engineering of the water supply zone,

which would result in changes in the area receiving fluoridated water. 

The consultation and procedural requirements should mirror those set out previously 

for initiating a proposal unless exemptions apply (see paragraphs 145 - 151 In effect, 

the proposals for establishing new fluoridation schemes would apply to all proposals 

50
see http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/921/contents/made

Page 85



67

relating to fluoridation, whether the proposal concerns a new fluoridation scheme, 

maintenance, variation or termination unless exempted by regulations. 

The Secretary of State for Health has regulation-making powers to set out the 

circumstances where the Secretary of State can vary or terminate arrangements with 

the proposer without a request from local authorities (section 88L(4)). The Secretary 

of State also has powers to specify the circumstances where a local authority’s

proposal can proceed with the full joint committee and consultation processes that 

would otherwise apply (see section 88K(4), 88L(3) and 88M(2).

Section 36 of the 2012 Act (and thus 88O the 1991 Act) enables the Secretary of 

State for Health to make regulations as to the maintenance of schemes, including 

the circumstances in which local authorities must consult and ascertain opinion on

maintaining a scheme.

By virtue of section 37 of the 2012 Act, the arrangements for variation, termination 

and maintenance will apply to existing and new schemes on or after 1 April 2013.

Therefore, existing schemes will have to be varied or terminated in accordance with 

the new local authority arrangements even if they were originally established by 

Strategic Health Authorities.

Page 86



68

ANNEX B: Summary of Action Points from the 
Equality Analysis on the Fluoridation Regulations.

Category Actions Target 
date

Person 
responsible 
and their 
Directorate

Involvement and
consultation

! DH will consider the consultation responses 
including further evidence for the equality 
analysis in the development of the 
regulations. 

! DH proposes to issue guidance to local 
authorities to clarify their responsibilities in 
respect to consultations on fluoridation 
proposals.

December
2012

March
2013

Chief Dental 
Officer

Chief Dental 
Officer

Data collection 
and evidencing

The Department will develop its policy on the

collection of information about oral health of the 

national / local population to feed into Joint 

Strategic Needs Assessments, for example, by 

sponsoring epidemiological surveys. This also 

applies to the arrangement for ensuring that 

any evidence is made available to relevant 

local authority staff. The Department/ Public 

Health England, will work with local authorities 

in developing arrangements for collecting 

equality data.

Recurring Chief Dental 
Officer

Analysis of 
evidence and 
assessment 

The Department/ Public Health England will 
then analyse the data to assess whether the 
views of people with protected characteristics    
have been captured in the consultation.

Recurring PHE-TT

Monitoring, 
evaluating and
reviewing 

In the light of the data obtained from the above 
analysis, the Department will seek to gather 
more evidence about how those with protected 
characteristics engage or are involved in  
consultations on fluoridation (or more widely on 
other health matters) to strengthen the analysis 
of the Department's proposals and their 
implementation.

Recurring Chief Dental 
Officer

Transparency 
(including 
publication)

The Department will publish an updated 
equality analysis alongside the final 
regulations.

2013 Chief Dental 
Officer

Page 87



 

 
 

1. Meeting: Health Select Commission    

2. Date: 25th October 2012 

3. Title: Work Programme Update 

4. Directorate: Resources 

 

5. Summary 

The paper updates the Scrutiny Work Programme for 2012/13 and seeks further 
input and clarification of two future work items. 
 

6. Recommendations 

That Members: 
 

a. Agree the focus of the two pieces of work on: 

• Discharge arrangements   

• Access to Healthcare services 

b. Agree the timeframes and methods for reviewing the above 
two areas 

c. Receive further updates at December’s Commission 
meeting. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

ROTHERHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL – REPORT TO MEMBERS 

Agenda Item 10Page 88



 

7. Proposals and details 

The Select Commission agreed its work programme for this year as follows: 

 

• Autistic Spectrum Disorder Review 

• Residential Homes Review 

• Discharge Arrangements Review 

• Access to Healthcare Services Review 

• Draft care and support bill 

 

Progress to Date: 

A small sub group from both the Health Select Commission and the Improving Lives Select 
Commission has met with Kate Green and Shona McFarlane to discuss a consultation 
response to the draft Care and Support Bill. 

A group has been established for the Autistic Spectrum Disorder review, chaired by Cllr 
Dalton.  This has now met three times and is half way through the review.  The review is 
due to report in December 2012/January 2013. 

A group has been established for the Residential Homes review, chaired by Cllr Steele.  
This has met once and has visits and other meetings scheduled during November and 
December.  It is anticipated that this review will conclude during December 2012. 

Outstanding work: 

This means that work on Discharge arrangements and access to healthcare services are 
the only two outstanding elements of the agreed work programme.  

Discharge arrangements – this is about the broader issue of how patients are discharged 
not always to social care services but generally: 

• whether people are being sent home at night  

• sent home without attention paid to how they will manage (if they do not have 
directly evident social care needs) 

• whether there is follow up for patients on discharge 

• how people are discharged to social care services 

• what level of delayed discharges there are due to social care issues, housing 
issues, NHS issues etc (the latter are all monitored and performance targets in 
place nationally) 

 

Access to Healthcare Services – to include issues around waiting times to see GPs and 
also access to the Walk in Centre and Accident and Emergency.  The CCG are 
undertaking a consultation about this currently and it is felt that the Commission need to 
feed into this. 

Timescales and methods: 

Members are asked to consider how they would like to undertake these remaining two 
pieces of work.  In doing so they should consider that the Scrutiny Manager who also 

Page 89



 

undertakes support to the Management Board and Improving Places, as well as the Health 
Select Commission is currently supporting four reviews (2 of which are for the Health 
Commission).  It is therefore suggested that the next piece of work should be around the 
Access to Healthcare, however, not a full review.  It could be a spotlight piece of work, and 
it should be an aim to ensure that this meets the deadline for the CCG consultation.  
Discharge arrangements could be the subject of a report early 2013, by which time the two 
current reviews will have completed and a third review on this can be scoped. 

8. Finance 

There are no financial implications arising directly from this report. However, 
recommendations arising from the work identified by the Commission may have financial 
implications should they be implemented. 

9. Risks and Uncertainties 

The work programme must be realistic in terms of the Commission’s capacity to properly 
examine issues that come before it. If additional items are added, the panel may have to 
re-prioritise which issues it wishes to scrutinise.  

10. Policy and Performance Agenda Implications 

The proposed work programme takes on board key policy agendas the Council is currently 
considering and performance information as and where necessary. The areas identified for 
future scrutiny should complement the priorities identified in the Corporate Plan. 

 
It is also important to note the changes that have occurred during the last year and the 
reduction in staffing resources.  Any work programme needs to take account of this and 
look realistically at what can be achieved and where it is best to focus resources and 
efforts. 

11. Background Papers and Consultation 

 

12. Contact 

Deborah Fellowes, Scrutiny Manager, Resources Directorate  
Deborah.fellowes@rotherham.gov.uk, tel ext 22769 

Page 90


	Agenda
	7 Minutes of previous meeting
	8 Health and Wellbeing Board
	9 Government Consultation - Process Local Authorities  will use to consult on any Feasible Water Fluoridation Schemes
	Consultation-on-the-fluoridation-of-water

	10 Work Programme Update

